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On behalf  of  the board (the “Board”) of  directors (the “Directors”), I am pleased to report that the revenue 

of  Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively 

referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 30 September 2017 was approximately HK$539,557,000, 

representing an increase of approximately 8.73% over the corresponding period of last year. Loss attributable 

to the shareholders (the “Shareholders”) amounted to approximately HK$20,279,000. Loss per share-basic 

amounted to HK3.21 cents.

DIVIDENDS

The Board of  Directors recommends the payment of  a final dividend of  HK2.1 cents per share for the year 

ended 30 September 2017 subject to the approval of  the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general 

meeting. The Company will pay the final dividend on 21 March 2018 to the Shareholders whose names appear 

on the register of  members on 8 March 2018.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Over the year, the global economy has been fluctuating to a certain extent. Factors like European debt crisis 

and global weak demand for consumables all dealt a blow to the market. In face of  the market environment 

with uncertainties, the staff  of  the Group remained optimistic and kept improving. Thank for their great 

responsibility in their own duties, which saved the Group’s sales performance from being affected much and 

the Group recorded an increase in sales.

PROSPECTS

I am relatively optimistic towards the growth of  the Group’s results for the coming year. In view of  the 

current situations including continued growth in global demand for footwear, more stringent requirement from 

the manufacturers for the quality of  adhesives, rapid increase in the demand for the use of  environmental 

friendly water-based adhesive products by footwear brands and manufacturers, and ongoing diversion of  the 

footwear manufacturing industry to countries or regions with lower costs, the effect of  the previous regional 

deployments of  the Group is becoming prominent under the swift changes in the market. I believe that the 

abovementioned market changes will positively enhance the sales performance of  the Group, and anticipate 

stable growth in the sales of  traditional shoe-making adhesive products for the coming year, with significant 

growth in the new footwear manufacturing bases in Asia in particular. The Group will continue to devote 

more resources to expedite/enhance marketing in order to increase its market share.

Leveraging on the Group’s solid experience accumulated over the years, premium products recognized by the 

market and its competence in research and development/improvement of  products, the Group will commit 

itself  to a continuous healthy business growth in the industry, and gear up for any opportunity arising 

from economic recovery. In the meantime, the Group will implement the business strategy of  diversified 

development, including devoting more resources and accelerating the development of  its agent business and 

electronic adhesive related products. In addition, the Group will invest and develop its OEM business in a 

proactive manner. At present, it has entered into an OEM cooperation agreement with a world renowned 

enterprise and exploring opportunities to participate in photovoltaic system projects and car park management 
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project. The Group will also explore and identify synergic investment opportunities in order to broaden its 

revenue sources, improve its competence in response to future changes and development in the market, and 

maximize the return for its shareholders and employees.

APPRECIATION

On behalf  of  the Board, I would like to extend sincere gratitude to all patrons, suppliers, business partners 

and shareholders for their support and patience during the past year. May I also salute our managers at all 

levels and dedicated staff  for their invaluable contributions and diligent efforts during the year.

Ieong Un

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 December 2017
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RESULTS

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 30 September 2017 (the “Year”) was approximately HK$539,557,000 

(2016: HK$496,219,000), representing an increase of  8.73% over last year. Loss attributable to the owners 

of  the Company amounted to approximately HK$20,279,000 (2016: profit of  HK$37,159,000). During the 

Year, the sales of the Group recorded a growth in all regions and the selling prices of our products remained 

relatively stable.

During the Year, the Group recorded a gross profit and profit from operation of  approximately 

HK$184,034,000 (2016: HK$175,808,000) and approximately HK$42,071,000 (2016: HK$36,597,000) 

respectively.

Benefiting from the effective implementation of  production cost control, a relative stable gross profit margin 

was maintained. The selling and distribution costs and administrative expenses amounted to approximately 

HK$147,693,000 (2016: HK142,804,000).

Although the profit from operation increased, a loss for the year was recorded which was mainly attributable 

to share of loss of associates and impairment loss of investment in an associate. More details of the investment 

in the associates are described in the section “Significant Investments” below.

Excluding the share of loss of associates and impairment loss of  investment in an associate of approximately 

HK$17,075,000 and HK$38,393,000 respectively for the Year, the Group would have recorded a profit for 

the Year of  approximately HK$35,189,000, representing an increase of  approximately 10% as compared to 

last year of  approximately HK$31,976,000 (excluding the share of  profit of  associates of  approximately 

HK$5,183,000).

However, during the Year, the loss for the year amounted to approximately HK$20,279,000 (2016: profit of  

HK$37,159,000). Basic and diluted loss per Share were HK3.21 cents and HK3.21 cents (2016: earnings of  

HK5.87 cents and earnings of  HK5.86 cents) respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Businesses

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of  adhesives, primers, hardeners, vulcanised 

shoes adhesive related products used by the footwear manufacturers and acting as the sales agent for adhesives 

used in the production of  electronic products. These products are key production materials used in different 

phases during the manufacturing process of footwear and electronic products. Adhesives are used for bonding 

all components of  footwear including outsoles, insoles, and uppers, while vulcanised shoes adhesives are 

used for bonding all components of  vulcanised shoes. Primers are used in the pretreatment of  footwear 

components, including outsoles, insoles, and uppers, prior to the application of  adhesives. Hardeners, being 

a curing agent, are used by mixing with adhesives to control or speed up the curing action of adhesives. The 

electronic adhesive related products are key materials used in bonding components of  electronic products.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS (Continued)

Segment Information

The principal activities set out above are the single operating segment of  the Group. For management 

purposes, the management of  the Group will review and analyze the revenues by products and by locations.

Products

1. Vulcanised shoes adhesive related products and other shoe adhesives

During the Year, the sales revenue generated from this product category was approximately 

HK$348,723,000 (2016: HK$340,726,000), representing approximately 64.63% of  the Group’s total 

revenue.

2. Primers

During the Year, the sales revenue generated from this product category was approximately 

HK$61,867,000 (2016: HK$49,372,000), representing approximately 11.47% of  the Group’s total 

revenue.

3. Hardeners

During the Year, the sales revenue generated from this product category was approximately 

HK$57,767,000 (2016: HK$53,890,000), representing approximately 10.71% of  the Group’s total 

revenue.

4. Electronic adhesives related products

During the Year, the sales revenue generated from this product category was approximately 

HK$34,364,000 (2016: HK$23,924,000), representing approximately 6.37% of the Group’s total revenue.

Regional Information

1. The PRC market

During the Year, by region, the revenue in the PRC market increased by 0.44% over last year to 

approximately HK$178,734,000 (2016: HK$177,958,000), representing approximately 33.13% of  the 

Group’s total revenue.

The Directors expected that the relevant market would grow at a steady pace in the coming year.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS (Continued)

Regional Information (Continued)

2. The Vietnam market

During the Year, by region, the revenue in the Vietnam market increased by 10.22% over last year to 

approximately HK$281,671,000 (2016: HK$255,560,000), representing approximately 52.20% of  the 

Group’s total revenue.

The Directors expected that the relevant market would maintain a steady growth in the coming year.

3. The Indonesia market

During the Year, by region, the revenue in the Indonesia market increased by 2.96% over last year to 

approximately HK$35,763,000 (2016: HK$34,734,000), representing approximately 6.63% of the Group’s 

total revenue.

The Directors expected that the relevant market would grow at a steady pace in the coming year.

4. The Bangladesh market

During the Year, by region, the revenue in the Bangladesh market increased by 55.14% over last year to 

approximately HK$43,389,000 (2016: HK$27,967,000), representing approximately 8.04% of the Group’s 

total revenue.

The Directors expected that the relevant market would maintain a steady growth in the coming year.

Production Facilities

1. The Zhuhai Plant

In order to meet the Group’s sales and the changes in the PRC market, the second phase expansion 

project in the existing Zhuhai Plant had completed. After completed the second phase expansion project, 

the Group will be well-prepared to meet the production capacity requirement for the development of  

its OEM business in the future.

2. The Zhongshan Plant

In order to respond to the changes in the market condition of  footwear manufacturing industry in the 

PRC, the Zhongshan Plant had completed the process of  reorganization and reallocation of  internal 

resources and the Zhongshan Plant had ceased operation in the first half  of  the Year.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS (Continued)

Production Facilities (Continued)

3. The Vietnam Plant

Given the orderly shift of  the footwear manufacturing industry to the Southeast Asia as well as the 

necessity to satisfy the needs for market development in the future, the management had decided to 

expand the existing scale of  the Vietnam Plant. In order to meet the current production capacity 

requirement, the construction of  the first phase of  the new Vietnam Plant has been completed and 

operation has been commenced since mid-2017. The second phase expansion project in the existing 

Vietnam Plant is under planning.

4. The Indonesia Plant

The Indonesia Plant has operated normally during the Year to ensure the provision of  stable services 

for local customers.

Cost Control

The Group will continue to carefully review and extensively investigate into the current situation in relation 

to costs and resources deployment. If  necessary, the Group will also improve its internal management in a 

proactive manner for the purposes of  effectively controlling and lowering the operating costs.

Research and Development

The Group has continuously dedicated to develop premium products on an environmental friendly basis 

to meet the market needs for quality products, and closely observe the development trend in the future to 

research and develop products pre-emptively in order to meet the future development needs in the industry. 

In addition to the technology cooperation between the Group and the No-Tape Japan as well as having its 

own research and development team, the Group also entered into technology cooperation agreements with 

several sophisticated technology experts in the industry (including those from countries and regions such 

as Japan, Taiwan and Hong Kong). Hopefully, such measures will enhance the research and development 

capability of  the Group so as to maintain the leading position of  its technologies in the industry.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS (Continued)

Prospects

The Directors are relatively optimistic towards the growth of  the Group’s results for the coming year 

with the completion and commencement of  operation of  the new Vietnam Plant. In view of  the current 

situations including continued growth in global demand for footwear, more stringent requirement from the 

manufacturers for the quality of  adhesives which helps eliminating industry players with less competitiveness, 

rapid increase in the demand for the use of environmental friendly water-based adhesive products by footwear 

brands and manufacturers, and ongoing diversion of  the footwear manufacturing industry to countries or 

regions with lower costs, the effect of the previous regional deployments of the Group is becoming prominent 

under the swift changes in the market. The Directors believe that the abovementioned market changes 

will positively enhance the sales performance of  the Group, and anticipate stable growth in the sales of  

traditional shoe-making adhesive products for the coming year, with significant growth in the new footwear 

manufacturing bases in Asia in particular. The Group will continue to devote more resources to expedite or 

enhance marketing in order to increase its market share.

Leveraging on the Group’s solid experience accumulated over the years, premium products recognized by the 

market and its competence in research and development/improvement of  products, the Group will commit 

itself  to a continuous healthy business growth in the industry, and gear up for any opportunity arising 

from economic recovery. In the meantime, the Group will implement the business strategy of  diversified 

development, including devoting more resources and accelerating the development of  its agent business and 

electronic adhesive related products. In addition, the Group will invest and develop its OEM business in a 

proactive manner. At present, it has entered into an OEM cooperation agreement with a world renowned 

enterprise and exploring opportunities to participate in photovoltaic system projects and car park management 

project. The Group will also explore and identify synergic investment opportunities in order to broaden its 

revenue sources, improve its competence in response to future changes and development in the market, and 

maximize the return for its shareholders and employees.

Liquidity and Financial Resources and Capital Structure

For the year ended 30 September 2017, the Group’s working capital requirement was principally financed by 

its internal resources and banking facilities.

As at 30 September 2017, the Group had cash and bank balances and deposits, net current assets and 

total assets less current liabilities of  approximately HK$109,116,000 (2016: HK$127,069,000), approximately 

HK$215,174,000 (2016: HK$218,689,000) and approximately HK$408,350,000 (2016: HK$441,200,000) 

respectively.

As at 30 September 2017, the Group had total bank borrowings except bills payable, on floating interest rates 

basis with the average interest rate of  2.91%, of  approximately HK$27,164,000 (2016: HK$44,913,000). All 

these utilised bank borrowings, both long and short terms, were secured by pledged bank deposits, land and 

buildings and investment properties held under medium-term leases.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS (Continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources and Capital Structure (Continued)

The total bank borrowings of the Group, mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars, were mainly for business 

expansion, capital expenditure and working capital purposes.

Total equity of  the Group as at 30 September 2017 decreased by approximately HK$33,247,000 to 

approximately HK$395,197,000 (2016: HK$428,444,000). The gearing ratio (calculated as the ratio of  total 

borrowings: total assets) of  the Group as at 30 September 2017 was approximately 0.05 (2016: 0.08).

The Group granted 5,000,000 and 6,000,000 share options at HK$1.788 and HK$1.30 per share on 16 June 

2015 and 7 June 2016 respectively, to eligible persons under the share option scheme of the Company adopted 

on 22 July 2010 (the “2010 Scheme”) and these 5,000,000 share options had been lapsed and 6,000,000 share 

options are still outstanding under the 2010 Scheme as at 30 September 2017.

During the Year, the Company has issued 872,000 ordinary Shares upon exercise of  the share options at an 

exercise price of  HK$0.90 per Share. The gross proceed was approximately HK$784,800, of  which HK$8,720 

was credited to the share capital, while HK$925,113 was credited to the share premium, the share-based 

payment reserve was decreased by HK$149,033.

Saved as disclosed elsewhere under the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”, there were 

no other changes in the Company’s share capital.

Significant Investments

Blue Sky Group

As at 30 September 2017, the Group owned 40% equity interests in Blue Sky Energy Efficiency Company 

Limited (“Blue Sky”, which together with its subsidiaries, the “Blue Sky Group”) which is principally engaged 

in the (i) provision of  application and installation of  energy-efficiency system and photovoltaic system 

for commercial and industrial buildings and manufacturing premises; and (ii) purchase and sales of  above 

captioned projects and renewable energy related projects. For the year ended 30 September 2017, the Group’s 

share of  the loss and impairment loss of  its investment in the Blue Sky Group were approximately HK$17.0 

million and HK$38.4 million respectively (“Impairment”). The Company considers that the impairment loss 

is a non-cash flow item and would not affect the liquidity of  the Group.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS (Continued)

Significant Investments (Continued)

Blue Sky Group (Continued)

During the year ended 30 September 2017, the Blue Sky Group made an investment to acquire an effective 

interest of  57% shareholding in a biochemical production, namely 廣西科明新能源有限責任公司 , a company 

which engages in bioenergy research and ethanol production in the PRC. The Directors noted that the Blue 

Sky Group did not possess any outstanding energy-efficiency contract nor engage in relevant projects during 

the financial year 2017 other than the investment in the PRC operation (as defined below). However the Blue 

Sky Group has not disclosed to the Group for the reason of non-possession of new energy-efficiency contract. 

Further to the enquiry by the management of  the Company to the Blue Sky Group, the management of  the 

Company has been informed that the ethanol production project would be further postponed and the PRC 

operation did not provide any further rescheduled production timeline in this regard.

In light of  the above, the Directors considered that indicators of  Impairment existed in respect of  the 

Company’s investment in associate, the Blue Sky Group, and engaged an independent valuer to determine 

the recoverable amount of  investment as required by HKAS 28.42. The recoverable amount was based on 

the fair value less costs of  disposal of  the investment in associate in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment 

of  Assets.

The factors that led to the impairment are: (i) the Blue Sky Group’s acquisition of its investments in the PRC 

operation which was its main business during the year under review; (ii) the performance of  this investment 

subsequent to its acquisition by the Blue Sky Group, in particular, the postponement of  the production 

timeline for ethanol project and no sales has been concluded since acquisition; (iii) the findings of  the 

independent valuer and the results of  the valuation; and (iv) the subsequent findings by the management of  

the Company that the capital injection committed by a subsidiary of  Blue Sky Group, namely 廣西聚能新
能源投資有限公司 (“PRC Company”) to 廣西科明新能源有限責任公司, being the operating vehicle of  the 

PRC operation (collectively the “PRC operation”) has not been completed.

In order to assess the fair value of  the Company’s investment in the Blue Sky Group, the Company engaged 

LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited (“LCH”), an independent professional qualified valuer to perform 

a valuation of  the Company’s interests in the Blue Sky Group which comprised its investment in the PRC 

operation. Since the Blue Sky Group was unable to provide any committed production schedule in respect of  

the PRC operation or any business contracts to allow a reasonable income projection, LCH adopted the asset-

based approach in the valuation of  the Blue Sky Group and its proportional interest in the PRC operation, 

based on an assessment of  the fair value of  the relevant assets, which are mainly plant and equipment of  

the PRC operation. After visit of  the site of  PRC operation and enquiries with the management of  the PRC 

operation by LCH, they found that the PRC operation site was not in operation and certain amount of  

equipment of  the PRC operation were dismantled and obsolete. However, there was no detail explanation 

for the reasons of  the PRC operation was not in operation except for the then unknown technical reasons. 

This impairment in the carrying amount of  the PRC operation resulted in consequential impairment to the 

investment in the Blue Sky Group.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS (Continued)

Significant Investments (Continued)

Blue Sky Group (Continued)

Since the Blue Sky Group is not controlled by the Group, the investment in the PRC operation by the 

Blue Sky Group was made without prior approval by the Group. Pursuant to the shareholders’ agreement 

dated 2 May 2014 among the shareholders of  Blue Sky, Blue Sky ought to obtain written approval from 

all shareholders for mergers and acquisitions of  any business. However, Blue Sky failed to seek for written 

approval from the Group. Also, Blue Sky did not hold board meeting to approve the acquisition of the PRC 

operation, the Group could not exercise its veto rights to the acquisition of the PRC operation. The Directors 

will seek legal opinion whether Blue Sky had breached the shareholders agreement and consider appropriate 

legal actions.

At the time of  the initial acquisition and further acquisition for the interest in the Blue Sky Group by the 

Group (“Acquisition” and “Further Acquisition” respectively), the Blue Sky Group had not yet acquired the 

investment in the PRC operation. The acquisitions at the consideration of HK$21,000,000 and HK$40,000,000 

were determined by arm’s length negotiations between the Company and the vendor with reference to the 

market value of  the 100% equity interest in Blue Sky Group estimated by the independent valuers based on 

market approach and income approach respectively. The poor performance of the investment by the Blue Sky 

Group was not reflected in the business valuations prepared by the independent valuers in the Acquisition 

and Further Acquisition.

The Acquisition and Further Acquisition by the Company was made according to the then business prospects 

of  the Blue Sky Group, its potential business contracts in energy saving and the profit guarantee given by 

the vendor to the Group. However, the Group had not reasonably expected the Blue Sky Group’s failure 

in securing new energy saving contracts in the financial year of  2017 after its satisfactory performance in 

2016 financial year and did not expect the Blue Sky Group will invest in another project, such events and 

circumstances resulting in the Impairment were not anticipated at the material time of  the Acquisition and 

the Further Acquisition based on the information available at the material time.

LCH has assessed that the Blue Sky Group had no commercial value as at 30 September 2017. The valuation of 

the Company’s interests in the Blue Sky Group, including its investment in the PRC operation, was conducted 

using the asset-based approach (also known as the cost approach) on the assumption that the disposal of the 

underlying assets of the Blue Sky Group would be resulted. The asset-based approach was chosen by the valuer 

because insufficient information was available to apply either the market approach or income approach in the 

absence of reliable financial projections and track record of the PRC operation. In addition, the approach is 

commonly used for early stage start-ups such as the PRC operation. The Directors agreed that the asset-based 

approach was the most appropriate in the circumstances. Under this approach, the value of the investment was 

based on the Group’s share of the underlying assets after deducting any liabilities of the investment. The fair value 

less cost of disposal was determined using cost approach as permitted by HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS (Continued)

Significant Investments (Continued)

Blue Sky Group (Continued)

The key assumptions of the valuation prepared by LCH for the fair value of Blue Sky Group as at 30 September 

2017, include of; (i) the legally interested party in the Blue Sky Group has free and uninterrupted rights to assign 

the assets of the Blue Sky Group and the equity interest of the Blue Sky Group (a part of or the whole of) for 

the whole of the unexpired terms as granted under the relevant approvals and any premiums/administrative costs 

payable have already been fully paid; (ii) all the required licenses, certificates, consents, or other legislative or 

administrative authority from any local, provincial, or national government or private entity or organisation have 

been obtained on which the valuation is based; (iii) the legally interested party in the Blue Sky Group has adopted 

reasonable and necessary security measures and has considered several contingency plans to protect its assets 

before disposal; (iv) the legally interested party in the Blue Sky Group sells its relevant assets and interest in the 

market in its existing state without the benefit of a deferred terms contract, leaseback, joint venture, management 

agreement or any other similar arrangement which could serve to increase the value of the assets and interest; 

(v) the legally interested party in the Blue Sky Group has absolute title to its relevant assets and interest; (vi) 

the Blue Sky Group’s assets and its equity interest have obtained relevant government’s approvals for the sale 

of the asset(s) and is able to dispose of and transfer free of all encumbrances (including but not limited to the 

cost of transaction) in the market; and (vii) the Blue Sky Group’s assets and its equity can be freely disposed 

and transferred free of all encumbrances for its existing uses in the market to both local and overseas purchasers 

without payment of any premium to the government.

Hunan Changsha group

On 12 October 2015, the Company entered into a non-legally binding memorandum of understanding with 株
洲變流技術國家工程研究中心有限公司 (transliterated as Zhuzhou National Engineering Research Centre of  

Converters Co., Ltd.#) (the “ZNERCC”) and entered into a non-legally binding cooperation agreement with 

ZNERCC and 湖南城石智能科技有限公司 (transliterated as Hunan Changsha Intelligent Technology Co. 

Ltd.#) in respect of the possible cooperation in photovoltaics system project(s). Details of the transaction were 

disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 12 October 2015. The construction of  the grid-connected 

photovoltaic power system was completed in last year and the application of  connection to the utility grid 

was completed during the Year.

Save as disclosed elsewhere under the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”, the Group 

had no other significant investments during the Year.

# The English Translation of  Chinese names or words in this report, where indicated, are included for information purpose 

only, and should not be regarded as the official English translation of  such Chinese names or words.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS (Continued)

Acquisition and Disposal of Subsidiaries and Associated Companies

During the Year, the Group completed an acquisition of 40% equity interest in Warrant Parking Management 

Group (the “Warrant Group”) from a Macau renowned enterprise and after then, also completed a capital 

injection. The total investment in the Warrant Group amounted to approximately HK$2,800,000. The 

principal activities of  Warrant Group are engaged in provision of  car park management for commercial 

building and residential premises. The management expects the Warrant Group can bring positive contribution 

to the Group in coming future.

Save as disclosed elsewhere under the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”, the Group 

had no other material acquisition and disposal of  subsidiaries and associated companies during the Year.

Employee Information

As at 30 September 2017, the Group employed a total of  375 (2016: 405) employees. It is the policy of  the 

Group to provide and regularly review its employees’ pay levels, performance bonus system and other fringe 

benefits (including social insurance coverage and company sponsored training) to ensure that the remuneration 

policy is competitive within the relevant industry. During the Year, the staff  costs (including Directors’ 

emoluments) amounted to approximately HK$69,742,000 (2016: HK$65,367,000).

In order to provide incentive or reward to eligible persons for their contribution to the Group and to enable 

the Group to recruit and retain human resources that are valuable to the Group, the Company adopted the 

2010 Scheme, under which it may grant options to eligible persons, including but not limited to employees, 

Directors and consultants, with the Group. During the Year, no options have been granted. Save for 872,000 

share options exercised by the holders thereof and 572,000 share options lapsed, no share options have been 

exercised pursuant to the 2010 Scheme during the Year. There are 1,024,000 outstanding share options which 

were granted to Directors and employees of  the Group under the 2010 Scheme as at 30 September 2017.

Charges on Group Assets

As at 30 September 2017, certain interests in land and buildings and investment properties held under 

medium-term leases of  approximately HK$74,486,000 (2016: HK$73,204,000) and bank deposits of  

HK$17,430,000 (2016: HK$21,556,000) were pledged to banks for bank borrowings totaling approximately 

HK$27,164,000 (2016: HK$44,913,000) granted to the Group.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS (Continued)

Future Plans for Material Investments and Expected Sources of Funding

Save as discussed elsewhere under the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”, the Group 

had no future plans for material investments as at the date of  this report.

The management, however, will continue to observe the development and operating condition of  the 

industry. It will seek investments in companies/projects that could bring synergy to the Group for the targets/

opportunities arise. In addition, the management may also invest in new business projects in situations they 

consider in favour of the future development and prospect of  the Group. Given the current uncertain market 

conditions, the management may fund new projects not mentioned in the Company’s prospectus dated 29 July 

2010 through fund raising or loans while reserve the internal resources for its core businesses.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates

The Group has foreign currency sales and certain financial assets and liabilities are denominated in foreign 

currency, which expose the Group to risk principally in Renminbi, New Taiwan Dollars, Vietnam Dong, 

Indonesia Rupiah and United States dollars. The Group expects that the Hong Kong dollars will continue to 

be pegged to the US dollars therefore the Group expects that the Hong Kong Dollars will not have material 

fluctuation against foreign currencies which might materially affects the Group’s result of  operations. Hence, 

the Group did not employ any financial instruments for hedging purposes.

Capital Commitments

As at 30 September 2017, the Group had capital commitments of  approximately HK$9,014,000 (2016: 

HK$24,904,000) in respect of  the acquisition of  property, plant and equipment.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 30 September 2017.

Events after the reporting Period

In October 2017, the Company repurchased the total of  10,364,000 ordinary Shares, all of  the repurchased 

shares had been cancelled in November 2017.

Save as disclosed elsewhere under the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”, there is no 

material subsequent event undertaken by the Company or by the Group after 30 September 2017 and up to 

the date of  this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) 

during the Year contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, save for the deviation discussed below:

Code Provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of  chairman and chief  executive officer should be separate and 

should not be performed by the same individual. The Company deviates from this provision because Mr. Ieong 

Un has been performing both the roles of  chairman and chief  executive officer. Mr. Ieong is the founder 

of  the Group and has over 23 years of  experience in the adhesive related industry. The Directors consider 

that vesting two roles in the same person provides the Group with strong and consistent leadership in the 

development and execution of  the Group’s business strategies and is beneficial to the Group. The Directors 

will continue to review the effectiveness of  the current structure and assess whether change in the separation 

of  the roles of  chairman and chief  executive officer is necessary.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of  Listed Issuers (the 

“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of  the Listing Rules as the code of  conduct for Directors in their 

dealings in the Company’s securities. Having made specific enquiry to all the Directors of  the Company, all 

the Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of  dealings as set out in the 

Model Code for the year ended 30 September 2017.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

As at 30 September 2017 and the date of  this annual report, the Board comprised five executive Directors 

and three independent non-executive Directors.

The following are the members of  the Board:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ieong Un (Chairman and Chief  Executive Officer)

Mr. Ip Chin Wing

Mr. Ip Ka Lun

Mr. Stephen Graham Prince

Mr. Tong Yiu On
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wing Yau George

Mr. Simon Luk

Mr. Tong Hing Wah

The biographical details of  the Directors are set out on pages 26 to 28 of  this annual report.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” to this annual report, the 

Directors have no other financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships with one another.

Functions and Duties of the Board

The main functions and duties conferred on the Board include:

— overall management of  the business and strategic development;

— deciding business plans and investment plans;

— convening general meetings and reporting to the shareholders of  the Company; and

— exercising other powers, functions and duties conferred by shareholders in general meetings.

The Directors may have access to the advice and services of  the company secretary of  the Company with a 

view to ensure that the board procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations, are followed.

In addition, the Directors may, upon reasonable request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate 

circumstance at the Company’s expenses. The Board shall resolve to provide separate appropriate independent 

professional advice to the Directors to assist the relevant Directors to discharge their duties.

Board Meetings

During the Year, there were 8 board meetings held. Prior notice convening the board meeting was despatched 

to the Directors setting out the matters to be discussed. At the meeting, the Directors were provided with 

the relevant documents to be discussed and approved. The company secretary of  the Company is responsible 

for keeping minutes for the board meetings. Details of  individual attendance of  Directors are set out in the 

table on page 23 of  this annual report.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of  the Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent non-

executive Directors. The Board considers that all independent non-executive Directors have appropriate and 

sufficient industry or finance experience and qualifications to carry out their duties so as to protect the 

interests of  the Shareholders.

Prior to their respective appointment, each of the independent non-executive Directors has submitted a written 

statement to the Stock Exchange confirming their independence and has undertaken to inform the Stock 

Exchange as soon as practicable if  there is any subsequent change of  circumstances which may affect their 

independence. The Company has also received the annual written confirmation from each of the independent 

non-executive Directors in respect of  their independence. The Board considers that all independent non-

executive Directors are being considered to be independent by reference to the factors stated in the Listing 

Rules.

The term of  the appointment for each of  Mr. Chan Wing Yau George, Mr. Simon Luk and Mr. Tong Hing 

Wah is two years from 1 January 2017. The Company will pay HK$144,000 per annum to each of  the 

independent non-executive Directors for their services rendered to the Group.

Directors’ Training

Pursuant to the CG Code, all Directors should participate in continuous professional development to develop 

and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed 

and relevant.

During the Year, all Directors have participated in a 6-hour in-house workshop on the Listing Rules organized 

by the Company. The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the Code Provision A.6.5 of  the 

CG Code.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision A.2.1 of  the CG Code stipulates that the roles of  Chairman and Chief  Executive Officer 

should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

During the Year, Mr. Ieong Un acted both as Chairman and Chief  Executive Officer of  the Company. Mr. 

Ieong is the founder of  the Group and has over 23 years of  experience in the adhesive related industry. The 

Directors consider that vesting two roles in the same person provides the Group with strong and consistent 

leadership in the development and execution of the Group’s business strategies and is beneficial to the Group.

The Directors will continue to review the effectiveness of  the current structure and assess whether change in 

the separation of  the roles of  Chairman and Chief  Executive Officer is necessary.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of  the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of  three 

years commencing from 1 January 2017.

In accordance with the articles of  association of  the Company, one-third of  the Directors or, if  the number 

is not three or a multiple of  three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, will retire from 

office by rotation and every Directors shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least 

once every three years. The Directors to retire every year will be those who have been longest in office since 

their last re-election or appointment.

Board Committees

The Company has established three Board committees (the “Board Committees”), namely the Audit 

Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee to assist the Board in discharging 

its duties and responsibilities. The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their 

duties and are able to obtain outside independent professional advice in connection with their duties at the 

Company’s expenses.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 26 March 2010 with written terms of  reference in compliance with 

the CG Code. The primary duties of  the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the Group’s financial 

reporting process, internal control and risk management system.

During the Year, the Audit Committee comprised three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. 

Chan Wing Yau George, Mr. Simon Luk and Mr. Tong Hing Wah. The chairman of  the Audit Committee 

is Mr. Tong Hing Wah.

During the Year, the Audit Committee has held three meetings and the committee performed the following 

duties:

— meeting with the chief  executive and management of  the Company from time to time to review the 

interim and annual results, the interim report and annual report and other financial, internal control, 

corporate governance and risk management matters of  the Group and making recommendations to the 

Board;

— considering and discussing the reports and presentations of senior management and the external auditor, 

with a view to ensure that the Group’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance 

with accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong;
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— meeting with the external auditor to discuss its independent review of  the interim financial report and 

its annual audit of  the consolidated financial statements (as the case may be, without the Company’s 

management being present); and

— assisting the Board in meeting its responsibilities for maintaining an effective systems of internal control 

and risk management.

The external auditors attended the meetings to discuss with the Audit Committee members on issues arising 

from the audit and financial reporting matters.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding the appointment of external 

auditors.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 26 March 2010 with written terms of  reference in 

compliance with the CG Code. The primary responsibilities of  the Remuneration Committee are to make 

recommendations to the Board on the remuneration package of  the Directors and senior management and 

to ensure that no Director or any of  his associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee comprised four members, namely Mr. Chan Wing Yau George, 

Mr. Simon Luk, Mr. Tong Hing Wah and Mr. Ip Ka Lun, a majority of whom are independent non-executive 

Directors. The chairman of  the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Chan Wing Yau George.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has held one meeting and the committee performed the 

following duties:

— reviewing and fixing the remuneration of  individual Directors and senior management; and

— making recommendations to the Board to establish a more formal and transparent procedure for 

determining the remuneration packages of  individual senior management.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 26 March 2010 with written terms of reference in compliance 

with the CG Code. The primary duties of  the Nomination Committee is to make recommendations to the 

Board on the appointment of  Directors and senior management.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee comprised four members, namely Mr. Chan Wing Yau George, 

Mr. Simon Luk, Mr. Tong Hing Wah and Mr. Ip Ka Lun, a majority of whom are independent non-executive 

Directors. The chairman of  the Nomination Committee is Mr. Simon Luk.
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee has held one meeting and the committee performed the following 

duties:

— reviewing the annual confirmation of  independence submitted by the independent non-executive 

Directors and assessing their independence;

— reviewing the structure, size and composition including the skills knowledge and experience of the Board; 

and

— reviewing the Company’s board diversity policy and the progress on achieving the objectives set for 

implementing the said policy.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for the corporate governance functions with the following duties:

— to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and make 

recommendations on changes and updating;

— to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of  Directors;

— to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 

requirements;

— to develop, review and monitor the code of  conduct and compliance manual (if  any) applicable to 

employees and Directors;

— to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance 

Report; and

— such other corporate governance duties and functions set out in the CG Code (as amended from time 

to time) for which the Board are responsible.

During the Year, the corporate governance duties performed by the Board were summarised as follows:

— reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices;

— reviewed the Company’s policies in compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

— reviewed the compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report;

— reviewed the training and continuous professional development of  the Directors; and
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— reviewed the code of  conduct applicable to employees and Directors.

Attendance of meetings

The attendance of each Director at Board meetings, Board committees meetings and general meetings during 

the year ended 30 September 2017 was as follows:

Attendance out of number of meetings

Board
Audit 

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
Nomination 
Committee

General 
Meeting      

Executive Directors
Mr. Ieong Un  

(Chairman and Chief  Executive Officer) 7/8 — — — 1/1
Mr. Ip Chin Wing 6/8 — — — 1/1
Mr. Ip Ka Lun 8/8 — 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Stephen Graham Prince 6/8 — — — 1/1
Mr. Tong Yiu On 7/8 — — — 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Wing Yau George 6/8 3/3 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Simon Luk 6/8 3/3 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Tong Hing Wah 6/8 3/3 1/1 1/1 1/1

Directors’ and Auditor’s responsibilities on the Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial statement of  the Group in 

accordance with the statutory requirements and accounting standards and other financial disclosure 

requirements under the Listing Rules. The Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure that 

the financial statements of  the Group are published in a timely manner as required by the Listing Rules.

The external auditor’s statement about reporting responsibility is set out on pages 47 and 49 of  this report.

Company Secretary

As at 30 September 2017, the company secretary of the Company, Mr. Tong Yiu On, who is also an executive 

Director, fulfills the requirement under Rules 3.28 and 3.29 of  the Listing Rules. As an employee of  the 

Company, the company secretary supports the Board, ensures good information flow within the Board and 

Board policy and procedures are followed; advises the Board on governance matters, facilitates induction 

and, monitors the training and continuous professional development of  Directors. He has attained not less 

than 15 hours of  relevant professional training during the Year. His biography is set out in the “Directors 

and Senior Management” section of  this annual report.
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Internal Control and Risk Management

The internal control and risk management system has been designed to safeguard the assets of the Company, 

maintaining proper accounting records, execution with appropriate authority and compliance with the relevant 

laws and regulations.

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of  the Group’s internal control and 

risk management system. They have carried out an annual review of the implemented system and procedures, 

including areas covering financial, operational and legal compliance controls and risk management functions. 

The internal control and risk management system is implemented to minimize the risk to which the Group 

is exposed and used as a management tool for the day-to-day operation of  business. The system can only 

provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against misstatement or losses.

For the year ended 30 September 2017, the Board considered that the Company’s internal control and risk 

management system is adequate and effective and the Company has complied with the code provisions on 

internal control and risk management of  the CG Code.

Auditor’s Remuneration

For the year ended 30 September 2017, the total fees paid or payable in respect of  audit and non-audit 

services provided by the Group’s external auditors, are set out below:

For the year ended 

30 September 2017

HK$  

Annual audit services 1,200,000

Non-audit services 556,000

It is noted that the non-audit services provided by the external auditors during the Year mainly include the 

review of  interim financial information of  the Group.

Communication Channels with Shareholders and Investors

The general meetings of  the Company provide a forum for communication between the Board and the 

Shareholders. The chairman of the Board as well as the chairman of the Audit Committee and other members 

of  the respective committees are available to answer questions at the general meeting of  the Shareholders.

The Company maintains a website at http://www.infinitydevelopment.com.hk where extensive information and 

updates on the Company’s financial information, corporate governance practices and other useful information 

are posted and available for access by the public investors.
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A Shareholders’ communication policy (the “Policy”) was adopted by the Company in March 2012 to 

maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and encourage them to communicate actively with 

the Company and also establishing the Policy and reviewing the Policy on a regular basis to ensure its 

effectiveness.

Shareholders’ Rights

Right to convene extraordinary general meeting

In accordance with the Company’s Article 58, the Shareholders of  the Company holding at the date of  

deposit of  the requisition not less than one-tenth of  the paid up capital of  the Company carrying the right 

of  voting at general meetings of  the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the 

Board or the Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for 

the transaction of  any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2) 

months after the deposit of  such requisition. If  within twenty-one (21) days of  such deposit the Board fails 

to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionists themselves may do so in the same manner, and all 

reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result of  the failure of  the Board shall be reimbursed 

to the requisitionists by the Company.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

The number of  shareholders necessary for putting forward a proposal at a Shareholders’ meeting shall be 

any number of  shareholders representing not less than one-tenth of  the paid up capital of  the Company 

carrying the right of  voting at general meetings at the date of  the request.

Shareholders’ enquiries

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch 

share registrar: Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong 

Kong.

Other enquiries or comments raised by any Shareholder can be mailed to the Board at the Company’s head 

office in Macau at Rua de Pequim No. 202A–246, Macau Finance Centre, 16 Andar A–D, Macau or sent 

through email to ir@infinitydevelopment.com.hk.

Investor Relations

There was no significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the year ended 

30 September 2017.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Ieong Un, aged 63, being a founder of the Group, is the chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive 

Officer of  the Group. Mr. Ieong is primarily responsible for (i) the Group’s strategic planning including 

geographical and network expansion of  the Group’s business such as expansion of  customers’ base and 

penetration of business in the domestic adhesive industry in the PRC; (ii) product research and development; 

(iii) enhancement of  the Group’s capability in marketing and promotion as well as technical assistance to 

customers; and (iv) positioning the Group in the adhesive industry. Mr. Ieong, being one of  the founders of  

the Group in 1990, has been leading the Group from engaging in adhesive distribution business to adhesive 

development, sale and production business. Mr. Ieong has approximately 23 years experience in the adhesive 

related industry. Prior to the establishment of  the Group in 1990, Mr. Ieong held a senior management 

position of  Luen Ying Hong Company Limited, a distributor of  petroleum related products for more than 

6 years in Macau. During such employment, Mr. Ieong was responsible for the management of  the business 

operation, and the marketing and technical services team. Mr. Ieong is the sole shareholder and sole director 

of  All Reach Investments Limited, the controlling Shareholder.

Mr. Ip Chin Wing, aged 63, is a deputy general manager of the Group. He is responsible for the management 

and daily operation of the Group and also assists the chairman of the Board in formulating business strategies 

and implementing corporate and operational decisions. Prior to joining the Group in 2001, Mr. Ip served as 

a general manager of Dongguan Advanced Coatings Company Limited, a sino-foreign joint venture company 

registered in the PRC. In 2009, Mr. Ip was awarded by 中國生產力學會 (China Society of  Productivity) and 

中國企業報社 (China Enterprise Newspapers Office) as China enterprise innovative and outstanding person 

of  2009 (2009 年度中國企業創新優秀人物). Mr. Ip obtained a certificate in industrial trade instruction from 

The Hong Kong Technical Teachers’ College in 1982.

Mr. Ip Ka Lun, aged 63, is a deputy general manager of  the Group. He is responsible for overseeing the 

treasury and administrative functions of the Group and also assists the chairman of the Board in formulating 

business strategies and implementing corporate and operational decisions. Mr. Ip has 20 years’ experience of  

overseeing the operation of  accounting and finance departments. Prior to joining the Group in 2000, he was 

the manager of finance and accounts department of Yaohan Department Store (H.K.) Limited in Hong Kong 

from 1984 to 1997. He joined Noble City Holdings Limited, a holding company carrying out construction 

materials related business in the PRC, as a finance manager from 1998 to 2000. Mr. Ip obtained a bachelor 

degree in business from Tamkang University in 1977.
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Mr. Stephen Graham Prince, aged 55, is an executive Director and also the director of business and marketing 

of  the Group. He is responsible for overseeing all sales and marketing functions of  the Group. Prior to 

joining the Group in 2005, Mr. Prince worked as a general manager of  Interliance LLC. and was the chief  

representative of  this company in Shanghai, responsible for project management, business intelligence and 

operational strategy. Mr. Prince graduated from Audrey Cohen College in the U.S. with a bachelor of business 

administration degree in 1992 and obtained a master degree of  business administration from Fordham 

University in 2001.

Mr. Tong Yiu On, aged 51, is the chief  financial officer and company secretary of  the Company. He is 

responsible for the financial management and regulatory compliance of  the Company and also assists the 

chairman of  the Board in formulating business strategies and implementing corporate and operational 

decisions. Mr. Tong is a certified public accountant of  the Hong Kong Institute of  Certified Public 

Accountants. Before joining the Group as chief  financial officer in July 2011, he had been the executive 

director, chief  financial officer and company secretary of  a company listed on the main board of  the Stock 

Exchange during 2000 to 2008. Prior to that, he had gained 10 years of financial management and accounting 

and auditing experience from various companies listed in Hong Kong and overseas and an international 

accounting firm. Mr. Tong is currently the independent non-executive director of  Cybernaut International 

Holdings Company Limited (formerly known as Sinoref  Holdings Limited) (Stock code: 1020) since October 

2014, a company listed on the main board of  the Stock Exchange.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wing Yau, George, aged 62, is an independent non-executive Director. He joined the Group in 

March 2010. He is the Chairman and Chief  Executive Officer of  Capital Focus Asset Management Limited 

and an independent non-executive director of  Weiqiao Textile Company Limited (Stock code: 2698), a 

company listed on the main board of  the Stock Exchange. He had been a director of  Jardine Fleming 

Investment Services Limited. After leaving Jardine Fleming Investment Services Limited, he joined HSBC 

Asset Management Hong Kong Limited as an executive director. He has extensive experience in fund 

management. Mr. Chan had held several positions of  public services, such as a member of  the Financial 

Services Advisory Committee of  the Hong Kong Trade Development Council, the chairman of  Investment 

Sub-Committee of  and board member of  Ocean Park Corporation, and the chairman of  the Hong Kong 

Investment Funds Association China Sub-Committee. Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor of  mathematics degree 

from the University of  Waterloo in 1978.
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Mr. Simon Luk, aged 52, is an independent non-executive Director. He joined the Group on 21 November 

2013. Mr. Luk has been a responsible officer for the regulated activities of  asset management (Type 9) under 

the SFO since 2003. He has over 10 years’ experience in asset management and investment advising. Mr. Luk 

worked in various investment advising companies. Since November 2016, Mr. Luk has been the responsible 

officer of  Qianhai Capital Asia Limited. During the period from July 2014 to November 2016, he was the 

responsible officer of  W. Falcon Asset Management (Asia) Limited; and during the period from 2011 to 

November 2013, Mr. Luk was a responsible officer of  Capital Focus Asset Management Limited. Before 

that, Mr. Luk was a founder and responsible officer of  Money Concepts (Asia) Ltd. During the period of  

2000 to 2009, Mr. Luk managed various funds and private equity portfolios. Mr. Luk has been appointed as 

an independent non-executive director of  China Investment and Finance Group Limited (Stock code: 1226) 

since 2 July 2014. He was a non-executive director of Shaanxi Northwest New Technology Industry Company 

Limited (Stock code: 8258) during September 2012 to 12 August 2014.

Mr. Tong Hing Wah, aged 47, is an independent non-executive Director. He joined the Group on 

21 November 2013. Mr. Tong graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1993 with a bachelor 

degree in accountancy. He is a certified public accountant of  the Hong Kong Institute of  Certified Public 

Accountants and a fellow member of  The Association of  Chartered Certified Accountants. He has over 

23 years of  experience in regulatory compliance, financial reporting, auditing and financial management, 

including over 15 years of  experience as the chief  financial officer and/or company secretary in Hong Kong 

listed companies from 1999 to 2015. Mr. Tong is currently the director of  a business consultancy firm. Mr. 

Tong was an independent non-executive director of  Future World Financial Holdings Limited (formerly 

known as China Packaging Group Company Limited) (Stock code: 572) during the period from June 2003 

to July 2009; and an independent non-executive director of  Beauty China Holdings Limited (liquidated), a 

company listed on the main board of  the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, during the period 

from September 2003 to September 2009.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zheng Guo Liang, aged 54, is the production and operation director of the Group in the PRC. Mr. Zheng 

joined the Group as a sales representative in 1990. Prior to joining the Group, he worked for a mechanical 

engineering company in Zhuhai and responsible for the mechanical maintenance for more than five years. 

Mr. Zheng finished his secondary education in 1987. Mr. Zheng currently is responsible for planning and 

operating matters in terms of  production.

Mr. Wu Xiang Ming, aged 48, is the technical director of research and development department of the Group 

responsible for the establishment and implementation of  the research and development plan in accordance 

with the requirements of  the customers of  the Group and the market. He is also responsible for the general 

management of the research and development team of the Group. Prior to joining the Group in 2007, Mr. Wu 

had more than 12 years’ research and development working experience. He was a research and development 

manager of  a Hong Kong based chemical science company for seven years. Mr. Wu graduated from 華東理
工大學 (East China University of  Science and Technology) (formerly known as 華東化工學院 (East China 

Institute of  Science and Technology)) in 1990 with a bachelor degree in engineering and obtained a master 

degree of  engineering from Zhejiang University in 1996.

Mr. Zhong Xuan Feng, aged 47, is the director of  human resources and information technology departments 

of the Group responsible for diverse range of human resources activities of  the Group including recruitment, 

compensation and benefits, staff  training and employee relationship management. Apart from human 

resources, he is also responsible for the development of  information technology platform to support the 

operation of  the Group in accordance with development needs. Mr. Zhong joined the Group in 1998. He 

had 6 years’ experiences of  accounting. He was a head of accounting department of an investment company. 

In 2006, Mr. Zhong was sponsored by the Group to study in Hong Kong, and obtained a master degree in 

business administration from Hong Kong Baptist University in 2008.
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DISCLOSURE ON CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of  the Listing Rules, the changes in details of  the Directors’ information 

subsequent to the date of  the annual report of  the Company for the year ended 30 September 2016 are set 

out below:

Name Details of Changes  

Mr. Ieong Un the annual remuneration revised from HK$2,808,000 to HK$3,369,600 with 

effect from 1 January 2017

Mr. Ip Chin Wing the annual remuneration revised from HK$1,440,000 to HK$1,728,000 with 

effect from 1 January 2017

Mr. Ip Ka Lun the annual remuneration revised from HK$1,440,000 to HK$1,728,000 with 

effect from 1 January 2017

Mr. Stephen Graham Prince the annual remuneration revised from HK$1,440,000 to HK$1,728,000 with 

effect from 1 January 2017

Mr. Tong Yiu On the annual remuneration revised from HK$1,440,000 to HK$1,728,000 with 

effect from 1 January 2017
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The Directors hereby present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of  the 

Group for the year ended 30 September 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company of  the Group which is principally engaged in the 

manufacture and sales of  adhesives and related products for customers in footwear manufacturing mainly in 

the PRC and Vietnam and the trading of  adhesive used in the production of  electronic products.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of  the Group for the year ended 30 September 2017 are set out in the consolidated statement of  

profit or loss and the consolidated statement of  profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 50 

to 51 of  this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Directors recommend the payment of  a final dividend of  HK2.1 cents per share for the year ended 

30 September 2017 to the shareholders whose names appear on the register of  members of  the Company on 

8 March 2018. The final dividend is expected to be paid on 21 March 2018.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of  the results and the assets and liabilities of  the Group for the last five years are set out on 

page 126 of  this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of  the movements in property, plant and equipment of  the Group are set out in note 18 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS, EMPLOYEES AND OTHER 
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of  maintaining a good relationship with its business partners, 

suppliers, customers, employees and other stakeholders to meet the Group’s immediate and long-term goals. 

Accordingly, the Group’s senior management have kept good communication, promptly exchanged ideas and 

shared business update with the stakeholders when appropriate. The Group also creates a framework for 

motivating staff  and a formal communication channel in order to maintain healthy relationships with its 

employees and other stakeholders. During the Year, there were no material and significant dispute between 

the Group and its business partners, suppliers and/or customers.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group pays attention to legal and regulatory requirements in designing its policies and practices. Legal 

and compliance advisers will be engaged when necessary to ensure the Group operates in accordance with 

applicable laws and regulations.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of  the movements during the Year in the issued share capital of  the Company are set out in note 31 

to the consolidated financial statements of  this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of  the movements during the Year in the reserves of  the Group are set out in the consolidated 

statement of  changes in equity on page 54 of  this annual report.

BORROWINGS

Details of  bank borrowings of the Group as at 30 September 2017 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated 

financial statements of  this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 30 September 2017, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for 52.31% 

of  the Group’s total revenue for the year. The largest customer was Pou Chen Group which accounted for 

35.36% of  the total revenue of  the Group for the year ended 30 September 2017.

For the year ended 30 September 2017, the Group’s purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers and 

the largest supplier accounted for 34.38% and 10.30% respectively of  the Group’s total purchases for the 

Year.

For the year ended 30 September 2017, none of  the Directors or any of  their associates or any shareholders 

who, to the knowledge of  the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had any 

interest in the five largest suppliers or customers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of  this annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ieong Un (Chairman and Chief  Executive Officer)

Mr. Ip Chin Wing

Mr. Ip Ka Lun

Mr. Stephen Graham Prince

Mr. Tong Yiu On

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wing Yau George

Mr. Simon Luk

Mr. Tong Hing Wah

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of  the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of  three 

years commencing from 1 January 2017 subject to termination by not less than three months’ notice in writing 

served by either party to the other.

Each of  the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for 

a term of  two years commencing from 1 January 2017 subject to termination by not less than one month’s 

notice in writing served by either party to the other. The appointments are subject to the provisions of  

retirement by rotation of  Directors under the Articles.

Save for the above, none of the Directors proposed for re-election of the forthcoming annual general meeting 

has a service contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of  the subsidiaries within one year 

without payment of  compensation, other than normal statuary compensation.

Remuneration of the Directors

The remuneration of  each Director is approved at general meetings. Other emoluments will be determined 

by the members of  the remuneration committee with reference to the duties, responsibilities, performance of  

the Directors and the results of  the Group.

Details of  the remuneration of  the Directors are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements 

of  this annual report.
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Remuneration Policy

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages commensurate with industry practice and provides 

various fringe benefits to all employees of  the Group including social insurance coverage, provident 

funds, bonus, share option schemes and company sponsored training. The Group mainly determines staff  

remuneration in accordance with the performance of  individual employee and the salary trends in Hong 

Kong and PRC and will be reviewed regularly.

Retirement Benefits Scheme

The employees employed by the operations in Macau are members of  the government-managed retirement 

benefits schemes operated by the Macau government. The Macau operations are required to pay a monthly 

fixed contribution to the retirement benefits schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of  the Group 

with respect to the retirement benefits schemes operated by the Macau government is to make the required 

contributions under the schemes.

The employees of  the Group’s PRC and Vietnam subsidiaries are members of  the state-managed retirement 

benefits scheme operated by the PRC and Vietnam government respectively. The PRC and Vietnam 

subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefits schemes 

to fund the benefits. The only obligation of  the Group with respect to the retirement benefits schemes is to 

make the required contributions under the schemes.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, Directors shall be indemnified out of the assets and profits 

of  the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they shall or may 

incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their 

duty, or supposed duty. Provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of  any fraud 

or dishonesty which may attach to the Directors. The Company has taken out and maintained appropriate 

insurance cover in respect of  potential legal actions against the Directors.

Share Option Scheme

The Company has conditionally adopted a Share Option Scheme on 22 July 2010. Details of  the Share 

Option Scheme are set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” on pages 22 to 33 of  Appendix 

V (Statutory and General Information) in the Prospectus.

Share options

On 7 June 2016, an independent third party, which acted as the Group’s service provider providing strategic 

and financial consulting service, was granted 6,000,000 share options of  an exercise price of  HK$1.30 per 

share.
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On 16 June 2015, an independent third party, which acted as the Group’s subscription and placing agent, was 

granted 5,000,000 share options of  an exercise price of  HK$1.788 per share. These 5,000,000 share options 

had been lapsed as at 30 September 2017.

On 30 May 2014, the directors, employees of  the Group and other individuals were granted 5,480,000 share 

options at an exercise price of  HK$0.9 per share.

Summary details of  the movement of  the share options of  the Company during the Year are set out as 

follows:

Number of share options 

Name of Grantee/Category
Date of 

Grant
Exercise 

Date/Period

Exercise 
Price per 

Share

Outstanding 
as at 

1.10.2016

Granted 
during  

the year

Exercised 
during  

the year

Lapsed 
during  

the year

Outstanding 
as at 

30.9.2017         

Executive Directors
Mr. Ieong Un 30.5.2014 (Note 3) HK$0.90 28,000 — (28,000) — —

30.5.2014 (Note 4) HK$0.90 36,000 — — — 36,000

Mr. Ip Ka Lun 30.5.2014 (Note 3) HK$0.90 28,000 — (28,000) — —
30.5.2014 (Note 4) HK$0.90 36,000 — — — 36,000

Mr. Ip Chin Wing 30.5.2014 (Note 3) HK$0.90 28,000 — (28,000) — —
30.5.2014 (Note 4) HK$0.90 36,000 — — — 36,000

Mr. Stephen Graham Prince 30.5.2014 (Note 3) HK$0.90 28,000 — (28,000) — —
30.5.2014 (Note 4) HK$0.90 36,000 — — — 36,000

Mr. Tong Yiu On 30.5.2014 (Note 3) HK$0.90 28,000 — (28,000) — —
30.5.2014 (Note 4) HK$0.90 36,000 — — — 36,000
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Number of share options 

Name of Grantee/Category
Date of 

Grant
Exercise 

Date/Period

Exercise 
Price per 

Share

Outstanding 
as at 

1.10.2016

Granted 
during  

the year

Exercised 
during  

the year

Lapsed 
during  

the year

Outstanding 
as at 

30.9.2017         

Independent  
non-Executive Director

Mr. Chan Wing Yau, George 30.5.2014 (Note 3) HK$0.90 28,000 — (28,000) — —
30.5.2014 (Note 4) HK$0.90 36,000 — — — 36,000

Employees and other 
individuals

30.5.2014 (Note 1) HK$0.90 8,000 — — (8,000) —
30.5.2014 (Note 2) HK$0.90 1,012,000 — (584,000) (264,000) 164,000
30.5.2014 (Note 3) HK$0.90 944,000 — (120,000) (268,000) 556,000
30.5.2014 (Note 4) HK$0.90 120,000 — — (32,000) 88,000

Others 16.6.2015 16.6.2015  
to 15.6.2017

HK$1.788 5,000,000 — — (5,000,000) —

7.6.2016 7.6.2016  
to 6.12.2017

HK$1.30 6,000,000 — — — 6,000,000

         

Total 13,468,000 — (872,000) (5,572,000) 7,024,000
         

Notes:

1. Subject to fulfillment of  the pre-determined vesting conditions, the options shall be exercisable from 1 January 2015 to 

31 December 2018.

2. Subject to fulfillment of  the pre-determined vesting conditions, the options shall be exercisable from 1 January 2016 to 

31 December 2018.

3. Subject to fulfillment of  the pre-determined vesting conditions, the options shall be exercisable from 1 January 2017 to 

31 December 2018.

4. Subject to fulfillment of  the pre-determined vesting conditions, the options shall be exercisable from 1 January 2018 to 

31 December 2018.

Independence of Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has received, from each of  the independent non-executive Directors, a confirmation of  his 

independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of  the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of  the independent 

non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with Rule 3.13 of  the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS 
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY 
AND ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 30 September 2017, the interests and short positions of  the Directors and the chief  executive of  the 

Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of  the Company and its associated corporations 

within the meaning of  Part XV of  the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) as recorded in the 

register required to be kept under section 352 of  the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the 

Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of  Listed Issuers (the 

“Model Code”) are as follows:

(i) Interests in the Company

Name of Director Capacity

Number of 

Shares

Number of 

share options Total interests Position

Percentage of 

shareholding       

Mr. Ieong Un (note) Interest in controlled 

corporation

342,500,000 — 342,500,000 Long 54.14%

Beneficial owner 78,902,769 36,000 78,938,769 Long 12.48%

Mr. Ip Ka Lun Beneficial owner 84,000 36,000 120,000 Long 0.02%

Mr. Ip Chin Wing Beneficial owner 84,000 36,000 120,000 Long 0.02%

Mr. Stephen Graham Prince Beneficial owner 84,000 36,000 120,000 Long 0.02%

Mr. Tong Yiu On Beneficial owner 84,000 36,000 120,000 Long 0.02%

Mr. Chan Wing Yau, George Beneficial owner 84,000 36,000 120,000 Long 0.02%

Note:  The 342,500,000 Shares are held by All Reach Investments Limited (“All Reach”), the entire issued share capital of  

which is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Ieong. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Ieong is deemed to be interested 

in 342,500,000 Shares held by All Reach.
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(ii) Interests in associated corporation

Name of Associated 

corporation Name of Director Capacity Position

Number of 

shares in the 

associated 

corporation

Percentage of 

shareholding 

in the 

associated 

corporation      

All Reach Mr. Ieong Un Beneficial owner Long 100 100%

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 September 2017, none of the Directors and Chief Executive of the Company 

had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of  the Company and its 

associated corporations (within the meaning of  Part XV of  the SFO) as recorded in the register required to 

be kept under section 352 of  the SFO or required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 

pursuant to the Model Code.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

So far as is known to the Company, as at 30 September 2017, as recorded in the register required to be kept 

by the Company under section 336 of  the SFO, the following persons, other than any Director or the Chief  

Executive of  the Company, were the substantial shareholders (within the meaning of  the Listing Rules) of  

the Company and had the following interests in the shares and underlying shares of  the Company:

Name of shareholder Capacity

Number  

of Shares Position

Percentage of 

shareholding     

All Reach Investments Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 342,500,000 Long 54.14%

Chan Sut Kuan (“Mrs. Ieong”)  

(Notes 1 and 2)

Interest of  spouse 421,438,769 Long 66.62%

Notes:

1. All Reach Investments Limited is directly, wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Ieong. By virtue of  the SFO, Mr. Ieong, 

an executive Director, is deemed to be interested in the entire 342,500,000 Shares held by All Reach Investments Limited.

2. Mr. Ieong is in person beneficially owns 78,938,769 Shares. Mrs. Ieong is the spouse of Mr. Ieong and is therefore deemed 

to be interested in the 421,438,769 Shares held by Mr. Ieong. According to the laws of Macau, the regime of matrimonial 

property of  Mr. Ieong and Mrs. Ieong is community (共同財產制).
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable 

the Directors of  the Company to acquire benefits by means of  the acquisition of  shares in, or debentures 

of  the Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

The Company has not entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body corporate to manage or 

administer the whole or any substantial part of  any business of  the Company during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ Service Contracts” in this annual report, no contracts 

of  significance in relation to the business of  the Group, to which the Company, its holding companies, its 

subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly 

or indirectly, subsisted at the end of  the year or at any time during the Year.

No contracts of  significance for the provision of  services to the Company or any of  its subsidiaries by a 

controlling shareholder of  the Company or any of  its subsidiaries subsisted at the end of  the year or at any 

time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected Transaction” and the related 

party transactions as disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report, none 

of  the Directors has interests in any business which directly or indirectly competes, or is likely to compete 

with the business of  the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the audit committee which comprises three independent non-executive Directors, 

namely, Mr. Tong Hing Wah (chairman of the audit committee), Mr. Chan Wing Yau George and Mr. Simon 

Luk.

The audit committee is primarily responsible for the review and supervision of the Group’s financial reporting 

process, risk management and internal control system. It has met with the external auditors of  the Group 

to review the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Company and the audited annual financial 

statements of  the Group for the year ended 30 September 2017.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of  association or the Companies 

Law of  the Cayman Islands where the Company is incorporated.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of  Listed Issuers (the 

“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of  the Listing Rules as the code of  conduct for Directors in their 

dealings in the Company’s securities. Having made specific enquiry to all the Directors of  the Company, all 

the Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of  dealings as set out in the 

Model Code during the year ended 30 September 2017.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED 
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of  its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of  the Company’s 

listed securities during the Year.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of  the environment and communities in which it 

operates. The Group encourages environmental protection and promotes awareness towards environmental 

protection to the employees. It implements green office practices such as double-sided printing and copying, 

promoting using recycled paper and reducing energy consumption by switching off idle lightings and electrical 

appliances.

The Group will review its environmental practices from time to time and will consider implementing further 

eco-friendly measures and practices in the operation of  the Group’s business to move towards adhering the 

3Rs — “Reduce”, “Recycle” and “Reuse” and enhance environmental sustainability.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of  operations and business prospects may be affected by a number 

of  risks and uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. Details of  the principal 

risks and uncertainties are set out in notes 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements of  this annual 

report. 



Directors’ Report

Annual Report 2017  Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited 41

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 27 February 2013, the Board approved the entering into of a lease agreement between Mr. Ieong Un (“Mr. 

Ieong”) and Guangzhou Branch, Centresin Chemical Products Ltd., Zhuhai (“Zhuhai Centresin”), a wholly 

owned subsidiary of the Company, pursuant to which Mr. Ieong has agreed to grant the leasing of the office 

premises of  gross floor area of  approximately 2,000 square metres and located at House nos. 201 to 210 on 

Level 2, Nos. 79 to 111, Yiju Street, Nanzhou Road, Haizhu District, Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province, 

the PRC to Zhuhai Centresin for a term of three years commencing from 1 March 2013 to 29 February 2016 

at a monthly rent of  RMB97,000 for the first twelve months and annual increment of 5% for the subsequent 

two years, i.e. the annual consideration for the year ending 28 February 2014 will be RMB1,164,000, for 

the year ending 28 February 2015 will be RMB1,222,200 and for the year ending 29 February 2016 will 

be RMB1,283,310. The Directors consider that it is in the commercial interest of  the Company if  Zhuhai 

Centresin continues to use the office premises as it is not easy to identify other appropriate premises and 

Zhuhai Centresin will bear unnecessary relocation costs and expenses if  it has to move to other premises. 

Mr. Ieong, an executive Director and chairman of the Board and the controlling Shareholder, is a connected 

person to the Company as defined under the Listing Rules and the transaction contemplated under the lease 

agreement constitutes a continuing connected transaction on the part of  the Company under Chapter 14A 

of  the Listing Rules. The detail of  the above continuing connected transaction is set out in the Company’s 

announcements dated 27 February 2013 and 6 March 2013. Subsequently, on 24 February 2016, Mr. Ieong 

and Zhuhai Centresin has entered into a renewed lease agreement in respect of  the premises. Since all the 

applicable ratios are below 5% and the annual consideration for each of  the three years ending 28 February 

2019 is below HK$3,000,000, the renewed lease agreement is fully exempted from all the requirements with 

regard to continuing connected transaction under Chapter 14A of  the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Save as disclosed above and in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements of  this annual report, there 

was no significant connected party transaction entered into by the Group for the year ended 30 September 

2017.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, 

the Company has maintained sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules up to the date of  

this report.
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AUDITORS

At the extraordinary general meeting of  the Company held on 2 December 2013, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 

was removed as auditors of  the Company and Lau & Au Yeung C.P.A. Limited was appointed to act as the 

auditors of  the Company.

In March 2016, Lau & Au Yeung C.P.A. Limited resigned as auditors of  the Company and RSM Hong 

Kong were appointed by the Board to fill in such casual vacancy and to hold office until the conclusion of  

the next annual general meeting of  the Company. Save as disclosed, there have been no other changes of  

auditors in the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the Year ended 30 September 2017 have been audited by RSM 

Hong Kong.

A resolution will be proposed for approval by shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of  

the Company to re-appoint RSM Hong Kong as auditors of  the Company.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In October 2017, the Company repurchased the total of  10,364,000 ordinary Shares, all of  the repurchased 

shares had been cancelled in November 2017.

Save as disclosed elsewhere under the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”, there is no 

material subsequent event undertaken by the Company or by the Group after 30 September 2017 and up to 

the date of  this report.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the annual general meeting held on 5 March 2018 (the 

“AGM”), the register of  members will be closed from Wednesday, 28 February 2018 to Monday, 5 March 

2018 (both days inclusive), during which no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to 

be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates 

must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor 

Services Limited (the “Share Registrar”) at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong 

for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 27 February 2018.
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For determining the entitlement of  the final dividend, the register of  members will be closed from Friday, 

9 March 2018 to Monday, 12 March 2018 (both days inclusive), during which no transfer of  shares of  the 

Company will be registered. In order to qualify for the final dividend, all transfer of  shares accompanied 

by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Share Registrar for registration not later than 

4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 8 March 2018. The Final Dividend is expected to be distributed to those entitled on 

Wednesday, 21 March 2018.

On behalf  of  the Board

TONG YIU ON

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Hong Kong, 29 December 2017
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Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

INFINITY DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of  Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited 

(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 50 to 125, which comprise the 

consolidated statement of  financial position as at 30 September 2017, and the consolidated statement of  

profit or loss and the consolidated statement of  profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated 

statement of  changes in equity and consolidated statement of  cash flows for the year then ended, and notes 

to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of  significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of  the consolidated financial 

position of  the Group as at 30 September 2017, and of  its consolidated financial performance and its 

consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 

(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of  Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and 

have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of  the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the 

HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 

for the Audit of  the Consolidated Financial Statements section of  our report. We are independent of  the 

Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of  Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and 

we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit 

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 

of  the consolidated financial statements of  the current period. These matters were addressed in the context 

of  our audit of  the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 

we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. The key audit matters we identified are:

1. Impairment assessment of  investment in an associate — Blue Sky Energy Efficiency Company Limited

2. Valuation of  investment properties
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
  

Impairment assessment of  investment in an 

associate — Blue Sky Energy Efficiency Company 

Limited

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

As at 30 September 2017, the carrying amount of  

the investment in an associate — Blue Sky Energy 

Efficiency Company Limited held by the Group 

was HK$Nil, with impairment loss recognised in 

the consolidated statement of  profit or loss of  

HK$38,393,000 for the year ended 30 September 

2017.

For investment in associates, impairment testing is 

performed when indicators of potential impairment 

are identified.

As at 30 September 2017, management assessed 

that there were indicators of  potential impairment 

for the investment in an associate, Blue Sky Energy 

Efficiency Company Limited, details of  which have 

been disclosed in note 22.

Management engaged a firm of  qualified external 

valuers to prepare a valuation report for the 

assessment of  the recoverable amount of  the 

investment in this associate based on its fair value 

less costs of  disposal, which involved the exercise 

of  significant judgement and estimation.

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment 

assessment of  investment in an associate — Blue Sky 

Energy Efficiency Company Limited included:

— Obtaining an understanding of  management’s 

process for identifying impairment indicators;

— Assessing the external valuer’s qualifications, 

experience and expertise and considering their 

objectivity and independence;

— Using our internal valuation experts to assess the 

appropriateness of the valuation approach used in 

determining the fair value less costs of  disposal 

of  the investment in Blue Sky Energy Efficiency 

Company Limited; and

— Testing the key inputs used in determining the fair 

value of the investment in associate to supporting 

data.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
  

Valuation of  investment properties

Refer to note 7 and 17 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

Management estimated the fair value of  the 

Group’s investment properties to be HK$75,400,000 

as at 30 September 2017 with a revaluation gain 

of  HK$1,480,000 for the year ended 30 September 

2017 recorded in the consolidated statement of  

profit or loss. Independent external valuations 

were obtained in order to support management’s 

estimates. The valuations are dependent on 

certain key assumptions that require significant 

management judgments including the adjustment 

factors used on comparable properties. These 

adjustment factors were either based on public 

published data or substantially unchanged since 

30 September 2016.

Our procedures in relation to management’s valuation 

of  investment properties included:

— Assessing the external valuer’s qualifications, 

experience and expertise and considering their 

objectivity and independence;

— Assessing the methodologies used and the 

appropriateness of  the key assumptions based on 

our knowledge of  the property industry; and

— Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and 

relevance of  the input data used.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other Information comprises all of  the 

information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s 

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other Information and we do not 

express any form of  assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of  the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the Other 

Information and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the 

consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of  this Other 

Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and 

fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 

and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of  accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s 

financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 

that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do 

not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of  this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 

or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 

to influence the economic decisions of  users taken on the basis of  these consolidated financial statements.

As part of  an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of  material misstatement of  the consolidated financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of  not detecting 

a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 

involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of  internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

• Obtain an understanding of  internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of  expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of  the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of  the directors’ use of  the going concern basis of  accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If  we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 

the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if  such disclosures are inadequate, to 

modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of  our 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 

going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of  the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of  the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We 

are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of  the group audit. We remain solely 

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 

our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of  most 

significance in the audit of  the consolidated financial statements of  the current period and are therefore the 

key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 

disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 

be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of  doing so would reasonably be expected 

to outweigh the public interest benefits of  such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Mr. Chan Kong Wang.

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

29 December 2017
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
For the year ended 30 September 2017

2017 2016

Note HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Revenue 8 539,557 496,219

Cost of  goods sold (355,523) (320,411)    

Gross profit 184,034 175,808

Other income 9 5,056 4,012

Changes in fair value of  investment properties 1,480 1,260

Changes in fair value of  other financial asset 23 — (7,380)

Gain on disposal of  assets classified as held for sale — 6,766

Other gains and losses 10 (806) (1,065)

Selling and distribution costs (56,149) (49,167)

Administrative expenses (91,544) (93,637)    

Profit from operation 42,071 36,597

Interest on bank borrowings (1,211) (1,036)

Share of  (loss)/profit of  associates (17,075) 5,183

Impairment loss of  investment in an associate 22 (38,393) —    

(Loss)/profit before tax (14,608) 40,744

Income tax expense 11 (5,671) (3,585)    

(Loss)/profit for the year 12 (20,279) 37,159
    

(Loss)/earnings per share 16

— Basic HK(3.21) cents HK5.87 cents
    

— Diluted HK(3.21) cents HK5.86 cents
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 September 2017

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

(Loss)/profit for the year (20,279) 37,159

Other comprehensive income:

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (1,340) (5,860)

Share of  other comprehensive income of  associates (654) (13)

Exchange differences reclassified to profit or loss  

on disposal of  foreign operations — (2,157)   

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (1,994) (8,030)   

Total comprehensive income for the year (22,273) 29,129
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 30 September 2017

2017 2016

Note HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Non-current assets

Investment properties 17 75,400 73,920

Property, plant and equipment 18 99,605 56,549

Land use rights 19 12,436 13,100

Intangible assets 20 1,806 12,157

Investment in associates 22 2,753 56,069

Club debentures 1,080 1,080

Deposits for acquisition of  property, plant and equipment 96 9,636    

Total non-current assets 193,176 222,511    

Current assets

Inventories 24 63,338 54,633

Trade, bills and other receivables 25 164,203 148,745

Restricted bank deposits 26 17,430 21,556

Bank and cash balances 26 91,686 105,513    

Total current assets 336,657 330,447    

Current liabilities

Trade, bills and other payables 27 81,199 52,440

Amount due to a related company 28 4,582 4,723

Bank loans 29 27,164 44,913

Current tax liabilities 8,538 9,682    

Total current liabilities 121,483 111,758    

Net current assets 215,174 218,689    
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2017 2016

Note HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Total assets less current liabilities 408,350 441,200

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 30 13,153 12,756    

Net assets 395,197 428,444
    

Capital and reserves

Share capital 31 6,326 6,317

Reserves 388,871 422,127    

Total equity 395,197 428,444
    

Approved by the Board of  Directors on 29 December 2017 and are signed on its behalf  by:

TONG YIU ON IP KA LUN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 September 2017

Share  

capital

Share 

premium

Treasury 

shares

Capital 

redemption 

reserve

Special  

reserve

Share-based 

payment  

reserve

Foreign  

currency 

translation 

reserve

Legal  

reserve

Statutory  

surplus  

reserve fund 

Retained 

profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note 33(b)(i)) (Note 33(b)(ii)) (Note 33(b)(iii)) (Note 33(b)(iv)) (Note 33(b)(v))
            

At 1 October 2015 6,426 195,101 (773) 37 1,097 3,148 1,260 508 2,669 218,717 428,190            

Total comprehensive income  

for the year — — — — — — (8,030) — — 37,159 29,129

Dividends paid — — — — — — — — — (15,161) (15,161)

Repurchase of  shares — — (16,231) — — — — — — — (16,231)

Cancellation of  shares (128) (17,004) 17,004 128 — — — — — — —

Transfer — — — — — — — 92 211 (303) —

Issue of  shares upon exercise of  

share options 19 2,278 — — — (544) — — — — 1,753

Share based payments — — — — — 764 — — — — 764            

Changes in equity for the year (109) (14,726) 773 128 — 220 (8,030) 92 211 21,695 254            

At 30 September 2016 6,317 180,375 — 165 1,097 3,368 (6,770) 600 2,880 240,412 428,444
            

At 1 October 2016 6,317 180,375 — 165 1,097 3,368 (6,770) 600 2,880 240,412 428,444            

Total comprehensive income  

for the year — — — — — — (1,994) — — (20,279) (22,273)

Dividends paid — — — — — — — — — (13,266) (13,266)

Issue of  shares upon exercise of  

share options 9 925 — — — (149) — — — — 785

Share based payments — — — — — 1,507 — — — — 1,507            

Changes in equity for the year 9 925 — — — 1,358 (1,994) — — (33,545) (33,247)            

At 30 September 2017 6,326 181,300 — 165 1,097 4,726 (8,764) 600 2,880 206,867 395,197
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 September 2017

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(Loss)/profit before tax (14,608) 40,744

Adjustments for:

Interest income (748) (649)

Finance costs 1,211 1,036

Amortisation of  intangible assets 10,337 10,737

Amortisation of  prepaid land lease payments on land use rights 413 444

Depreciation 6,879 5,981

Impairment of  intangible asset — 7,600

Impairment loss of  investment in an associate 38,393 —

Gain on disposal of  assets classified as held for sale — (6,766)

Written off  of  inventories 415 676

Written off  of  trade receivables 348 297

Share of  loss/(profit) of  associates 17,075 (5,183)

Loss on disposal of  property, plant and equipment 458 2

Written off  of  property, plant and equipment 363 —

Equity-settled share-based payments 1,507 764

Changes in fair value of  investment properties (1,480) (1,260)

Changes in fair value of  other financial asset — 7,380   

Operating profit before working capital changes 60,563 61,803

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (9,120) 15,546

Increase in trade, bills and other receivables (15,841) (1,673)

Increase/(decrease) in trade, bills and other payables 28,759 (7,887)   

Cash generated from operations 64,361 67,789

Income taxes paid (6,496) (4,189)   

Net cash generated from operating activities 57,865 63,600   
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2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received 748 649

Purchases of  property, plant and equipment (41,300) (20,589)

Deposits paid on acquisition of  property, plant and equipment (96) (7,276)

Net proceeds from disposal of  asset classified as held for sale — 25,341

Proceeds from disposal of  property, plant and equipment 130 —

Acquisition of  interest in associates (476) (40,000)

Capital injection in an associate (2,330) —

Decrease of  pledged bank deposits 4,126 421   

Net cash used in investing activities (39,198) (41,454)   

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net proceeds from exercise of  share options 785 1,753

Repurchase of  shares — (16,231)

Finance costs paid (1,211) (1,036)

Dividends paid (13,266) (15,161)

Changes in amount due to a related company (141) 3,962

Inception of  bank loans 8,000 42,000

Repayment of  bank loans (25,749) (21,301)   

Net cash used in financing activities (31,582) (6,014)   

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH 

EQUIVALENTS (12,915) 16,132

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES (912) (4,969)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 OCTOBER 105,513 94,350   

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 91,686 105,513
   

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank and cash balances 91,686 105,513
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 September 2017

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman 

Islands with limited liability. The address of its registered office is P.O. Box 10008, Willow House, Cricket 

Square, Grand Cayman KY1-1001, Cayman Islands. The addresses of  its principal places of  business 

in Hong Kong and Macau Special Administrative Regions, the People’s Republic of  China are Units 

2201-2202, 22/F., Alliance Building, 133 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong and 16 Andar A-D, 

Macau Finance Centre, No. 202A-246 Rua de Pequim, Macau, respectively. The Company’s shares are 

listed on the Main Board of  The Stock Exchange of  Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of  its principal subsidiaries 

are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, All Reach Investments Limited, a company incorporated 

in the British Virgin Islands, is the immediate and the ultimate parent and Mr. Ieong Un is the ultimate 

controlling party of  the Company.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong 

Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of  Certified 

Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 

(“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. These consolidated 

financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of  the Rules Governing the 

Listing of  Securities on the Stock Exchange and with the disclosure requirements of  the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed 

below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early 

adoption for the current accounting period of  the Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes 

in accounting policies resulting from initial application of  these developments to the extent that they 

are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated 

financial statements.
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3.  ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS

 (a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The HKICPA has issued a number of  new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 October 2016. Of  these, the following new or revised HKFRSs 

are relevant to the Group:

  Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Disclosure Initiative

The amendments to HKAS 1 clarify, rather than significantly change, existing HKAS 1 

requirements. The amendments clarify various presentation issues relating to:

• Assessment of  materiality versus minimum disclosure requirements of  a standard.

• Disaggregation of  specific line items in the statement(s) of  profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income and the statement of  financial position. There is also new guidance 

on the use of  subtotals.

• Confirmation that the notes do not need to be presented in a particular order.

• Presentation of  other comprehensive income items arising from equity-accounted associates 

and joint ventures.

None of  these developments have had a material effect on how the Group’s results and financial 

position for the current or prior periods have been prepared or presented.
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3.  ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (Continued)

 (b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 

effective for the financial year beginning 1 October 2016. These new and revised HKFRSs include 

the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for  

accounting periods  

beginning on or after
  

Amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of  Cash Flows: Disclosure initiative 1 January 2017

Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes: Recognition of deferred tax assets 

for unrealised losses

1 January 2017

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018

HKFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and HKAS 

28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Sale or contribution of  

assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture

To be determined

HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1 January 2019

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the expected impact of these amendments 

and new standards in the period of initial application. So far the Group has identified some aspects 

of the new standards which may have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

Further details of  the expected impacts are discussed below. As the Group has not completed its 

assessment, further impacts may be identified in due course.

  HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The standard replaces HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

The standard introduces a new approach to the classification of  financial assets which is based 

on cash flow characteristics and the business model in which the asset is held. A debt instrument 

that is held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows and 

that has contractual cash flows that are solely payments of  principal and interest on the principal 

outstanding is measured at amortised cost.

The requirements for the classification and measurement of  financial liabilities are carried forward 

largely unchanged from HKAS 39.
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3.  ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (Continued)

 (b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

  HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

HKFRS 9 introduces a new expected-loss impairment model to replace the incurred-loss 

impairment model in HKAS 39. It is no longer necessary for a credit event or impairment 

trigger to have occurred before impairment losses are recognised. For financial assets measured 

at amortised cost, an entity will generally recognise 12-month expected credit losses. If  there has 

been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, an entity will recognise lifetime 

expected credit losses. The standard includes a simplified approach for trade receivables to always 

recognise the lifetime expected credit losses.

The de-recognition requirements in HKAS 39 are carried forward largely unchanged.

The new expected credit loss impairment model in HKFRS 9 may result in the earlier recognition 

of  impairment losses on the Group’s trade receivables and other financial assets. The Group is 

unable to quantify the impact until a more detailed assessment is completed.

  HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 replaces all existing revenue standards and interpretations.

The core principle of  the standard is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the transfer of  

goods and services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity 

expects to become entitled in exchange for those goods and services.

An entity recognises revenue in accordance with the core principle by applying a 5-step model:

1. Identify the contract with a customer

2. Identify the performance obligations in the contract

3. Determine the transaction price

4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

5. Recognise revenue when or as the entity satisfies a performance obligation
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3.  ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (Continued)

 (b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

  HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)

The standard also includes comprehensive disclosure requirements relating to revenue.

The Group is unable to estimate the impact of  the new standard on the consolidated financial 

statements until a more detailed analysis is completed.

  HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases and related interpretations. The new standard introduces 

a single accounting model for lessees. For lessees the distinction between operating and finance 

leases is removed and lessees will recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases 

(with optional exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low value assets). HKFRS 16 carries 

forward the accounting requirements for lessors in HKAS 17 substantially unchanged. Lessors will 

therefore continue to classify leases as operating or financing leases.

The Group’s office property leases are currently classified as operating leases and the lease 

payments (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are recognised as an expense on a straight-

line basis over the lease term. Under HKFRS 16 the Group may need to recognise and measure a 

liability at the present value of  the future minimum lease payments and recognise a corresponding 

right-of-use asset for these leases. The interest expense on the lease liability and depreciation on 

the right-of-use asset will be recognised in profit or loss. The Group’s assets and liabilities will 

increase and the timing of  expense recognition will also be impacted as a result.

As disclosed in note 36, the Group’s future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 

operating leases for its office properties amounted to approximately HK$4,734,000 as at 

30 September 2017. The Group will need to perform a more detailed assessment in order to 

determine the new assets and liabilities arising from these operating leases commitments after 

taking into account the transition reliefs available in HKFRS 16 and the effects of  discounting.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, unless 

mentioned otherwise in the accounting policies below (e.g. investment properties and certain financial 

instruments that are measured at fair value).

The preparation of  financial statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of  certain critical 

accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the 

Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of  judgement or complexity, or areas 

where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed 

in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of  these consolidated financial statements 

are set out below.

 (a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of  the Company and its 

subsidiaries made up to 30 September. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. 

The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 

entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has existing rights that give it the 

current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s 

returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights as well as potential voting 

rights held by other parties. A potential voting right is considered only if  the holder has the 

practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They 

are de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of  a subsidiary that results in a loss of  control represents the 

difference between (i) the fair value of  the consideration of  the sale plus the fair value of  any 

investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of  the net assets of  that 

subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill and any accumulated foreign currency translation reserve 

relating to that subsidiary.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 (a) Consolidation (Continued)

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also 

eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of  an impairment of  the asset transferred. 

Accounting policies of  subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with 

the policies adopted by the Group.

Profit or loss and each component of  other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners 

of  the Company.

In the Company’s statement of  financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost 

less impairment loss.

 (b) Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the 

power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of  an entity but is not control 

or joint control over those policies. The existence and effect of  potential voting rights that are 

currently exercisable or convertible, including potential voting rights held by other entities, are 

considered when assessing whether the Group has significant influence. In assessing whether a 

potential voting right contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial ability 

to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements by the equity 

method and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of  the associate in an 

acquisition are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of  the cost of  

the investment over the Group’s share of  the net fair value of  the associate’s identifiable assets 

and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying amount of  the 

investment and is tested for impairment together with the investment at the end of  each reporting 

period when there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired. Any excess of  the Group’s 

share of  the net fair value of  the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of  acquisition is 

recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group’s share of  an associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses and other comprehensive 

income is recognised in consolidated statement of  profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

When the Group’s share of  losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate 

(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment 

in the associate), the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations 

or made payments on behalf  of  the associate. If  the associate subsequently reports profits, the 

Group resumes recognising its share of  those profits only after its share of  the profits equals the 

share of  losses not recognised.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 (b) Associates (Continued)

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the 

extent of  the Group’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 

transaction provides evidence of  an impairment of  the asset transferred. Accounting policies of  

associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by 

the Group.

 (c) Foreign currency translation

  (i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of  each of  the Group’s entities are measured 

using the currency of  the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the 

“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong 

dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

  (ii) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency on initial 

recognition using the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets 

and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the end of  each 

reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this translation policy are recognised in 

profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in foreign currencies are translated using 

the exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income, 

any exchange component of  that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. 

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange 

component of  that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 (c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

  (iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of  all the Group entities that have a functional currency 

different from the Company’s presentation currency are translated into the Company’s 

presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of  financial position presented are translated 

at the closing rate at the date of  that statement of  financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period (unless 

this average is not a reasonable approximation of  the cumulative effect of  the rates 

prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated 

at the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and 

accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of  monetary items that 

form part of  the net investment in foreign entities are recognised in other comprehensive 

income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation 

is sold, such exchange differences are reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as part of  the 

gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated 

as assets and liabilities of  the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 (d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings and leasehold land (classified as finance leases), 

held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes (other 

than properties under construction as described below), are stated in the consolidated statement of  

financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated 

impairment losses, if  any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 

as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 

will flow to the Group and the cost of  the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and 

maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of  property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to write off  their 

cost less their residual values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal 

annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold land Over the term of  the lease

Buildings
— office units Over the term of  the lease
— factory premises 20 years

Furniture and fixtures and equipment 10%–25%

Leasehold improvements 20%

Motor vehicles 162/3%–20%

Plant and equipment 10%–20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted, if  appropriate, 

at the end of  each reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction and plant and equipment pending 

installation, and is stated at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant 

assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of  property, plant and equipment is the difference between the net 

sales proceeds and the carrying amount of  the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 (e) Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. 

An investment property is measured initially at its cost including all direct costs attributable to 

the property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at its fair value. Gains or losses arising 

from changes in fair value of the investment property are recognised in profit or loss for the period 

in which they arise.

 (f) Leases

  The Group as lessee

  (i) Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the Group all the risks and rewards of ownership 

of assets are accounted for as operating leases. Lease payments (net of any incentives received 

from the lessor) are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Prepaid land lease payments are stated at cost and subsequently amortised on the straight-

line basis over the remaining term of  the lease.

  (ii) Finance leases

Leases that substantially transfer to the Group all the risks and rewards of  ownership of  

assets are accounted for as finance leases. At the commencement of the lease term, a finance 

lease is capitalised at the lower of  the fair value of  the leased asset and the present value of  

the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of  the lease.

Assets under finance leases are depreciated the same as owned assets over the shorter of  the 

lease term and their estimated useful lives.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 (f) Leases (Continued)

  The Group as lessor

  (i) Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all the risks and rewards of ownership 

of  assets are accounted for as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases is 

recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of  the relevant lease.

 (g) Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful life are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and 

impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 

lives. Intangible asset with indefinite useful life is not amortised.

  (i) Customer relationship

Customer relationship recognized as an intangible asset is amortised over its estimated useful 

life of 5 years. The useful life of the asset and its amortisation method are reviewed annually.

  (ii) Club memberships

For club membership with an indefinite useful life, no amortisation is charged because the 

Company has the contractual right to control over the asset and legal rights with no definite 

period. For club membership with a definite useful life, amortisation is calculated using the 

straight-line method to allocate the cost of  club membership over their estimated useful lives 

of  44 years.

  (iii) Formula and know-how

Formula and know-how are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment 

losses. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of  

5 years.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 (h) Club debentures

Club debentures with indefinite useful life is stated at cost less impairment losses. Impairment 

is reviewed annually or when there is any indication that the club debentures have suffered an 

impairment loss.

 (i) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of  cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using 

the weighted average basis. The cost of  finished goods and work in progress comprises raw 

materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of  all production overhead expenditure, 

and where appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price 

in the ordinary course of  business, less the estimated costs of  completion and the estimated costs 

necessary to make the sale.

 (j) Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of  financial 

position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of  the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets 

expire; the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of  ownership of  the assets; or 

the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of  ownership of  

the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On derecognition of  a financial asset, the 

difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of  the consideration received and the 

cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in 

profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is 

discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of  the financial 

liability derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 (k) Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis where the purchase or sale 

of an financial asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial assets within 

the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus 

directly attributable transaction costs except in the case of  financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss.

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: loans and receivables. The 

classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management 

determines the classification of  its financial assets at initial recognition.

  Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 

are not quoted in an active market. These assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method (except for short-term receivables where interest is immaterial) minus any reduction 

for impairment or uncollectibility. Typically trade and other receivables, bank balances and cash 

are classified in this category.

 (l) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in 

the ordinary course of business. If  collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year 

or less (or in the normal operating cycle of  the business if  longer), they are classified as current 

assets. If  not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment.

 (m) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of  the statement of  cash flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank 

and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly 

liquid investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of  cash and subject to an 

insignificant risk of  change in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form 

an integral part of  the Group’s cash management are also included as a component of  cash and 

cash equivalents.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 (n) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of  the 

contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of  a financial liability and an equity 

instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest 

in the assets of  the Group after deducting all of  its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted 

for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

 (o) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 

settlement of  the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

 (p) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured 

at amortised cost using the effective interest method unless the effect of  discounting would be 

immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

 (q) Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of  direct 

issue costs.

 (r) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of  the consideration received or receivable and is recognised 

when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of  revenue 

can be measured reliably.

Revenue from the sales of  manufactured goods and trading of  raw materials is recognised on the 

transfer of  significant risks and rewards of  ownership, which generally coincides with the time 

when the goods are delivered and the title has passed to the customers.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 (r) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment are established.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

 (s) Employee benefits

  (i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when they accrue 

to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service 

leave as a result of  services rendered by employees up to the end of  the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of  

leave.

The Group operates various post-employment schemes, including both defined benefit and defined 

contribution pension plans.

  (ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes which are available to all 

employees. Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated as a 

percentage of  employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit 

or loss represents contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

  (iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates when the Group can no longer 

withdraw the offer of  those benefits, and when the Group recognises restructuring costs and 

involves the payment of  termination benefits.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 (t) Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees. Equity-settled share-

based payments are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of  non-market based vesting 

conditions) of  the equity instruments at the date of  grant. The fair value determined at the grant 

date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting 

period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect 

of  non-market based vesting conditions.

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain directors, employees and 

consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and employees are measured at the fair value 

(excluding the effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at the date 

of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is 

expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of  shares 

that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of  non-market based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are measured at the fair value of  the services 

rendered or, if  the fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably measured, at the fair value 

of  the equity instruments granted. The fair value is measured at the date the Group receives the 

services and is recognised as an expense.

 (u) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

 (v) Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply 

with the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the period 

to match them with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred 

or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs 

are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 (w) Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of  the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit 

recognised in profit or loss because of  items of  income or expense that are taxable or deductible 

in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax 

is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of  the 

reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of  assets and liabilities in 

the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of  

taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences 

and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 

available against which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits 

can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if  the temporary difference arises 

from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of  other assets and liabilities 

in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 

subsidiaries and associates except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 

difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability 

is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted 

by the end of  the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it 

relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the 

deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of  deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would 

follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover 

or settle the carrying amount of  its assets and liabilities.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 (w) Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of  measuring deferred tax for investment properties that are measured using the 

fair value model, the carrying amounts of  such properties are presumed to be recovered through 

sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property 

is depreciable and is held within a business model of  the Group whose business objective is to 

consume substantially all of  the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, 

rather than through sale. If  the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax for such investment properties 

are measured based on the expected manner as to how the properties will be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off  

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the 

same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a 

net basis.

 (x) Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or that are not yet available for use are reviewed 

for impairment annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying 

amount may not be recoverable.

The carrying amounts of  other non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date for 

indications of impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through 

the consolidated statement of  profit or loss to its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable 

amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that 

are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable 

amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount 

is the higher of  value in use and the fair value less costs of  disposal of  the individual asset or 

the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of  the estimated future cash flows of  the asset/cash-generating 

unit. Present values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value of money 

and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated pro rata amongst the assets of  the cash-

generating unit. Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates 

are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the impairment.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 (y) Impairment of financial assets

At the end of  each reporting period, the Group assesses whether its financial assets (other than 

those at fair value through profit or loss) are impaired, based on objective evidence that, as a 

result of  one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition, the estimated future cash 

flows of  the (group of) financial asset(s) have been affected.

In addition, for trade receivables that are assessed not to be impaired individually, the Group 

assesses them collectively for impairment, based on the Group’s past experience of  collecting 

payments, an increase in the delayed payments in the portfolio, observable changes in economic 

conditions that correlate with default on receivables, etc.

Only for trade receivables, the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account 

and subsequent recoveries of  amounts previously written off  are credited against the allowance 

account. Changes in the carrying amount of  the allowance account are recognised in profit or 

loss.

For all other financial assets, the carrying amount is directly reduced by the impairment loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if  the amount of  the impairment loss decreases 

in a subsequent period and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 

impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed (either directly 

or by adjusting the allowance account for trade receivables) through profit or loss. However, the 

reversal must not result in a carrying amount that exceeds what the amortised cost of the financial 

asset would have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is 

reversed.

 (z) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of  uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a 

present legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of  a past event, it is probable that an 

outflow of  economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can 

be made. Where the time value of  money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of  

the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of  economic benefits will be required, or the amount 

cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the 

probability of  outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by 

the occurrence or non-occurrence of  one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent 

liabilities unless the probability of  outflow is remote.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 (aa) Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information about the Group’s position at 

the end of the reporting period are adjusting events and are reflected in the consolidated financial 

statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the 

notes to the consolidated financial statements when material.

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of  applying the accounting policies, the directors have made the following judgements 

that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements 

(apart from those involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

 (a) Deferred tax for investment properties

For the purposes of  measuring deferred tax for investment properties that are measured using 

the fair value model, the directors have reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolios and 

concluded that the Group’s investment properties are not held under a business model whose 

objective is to consume substantially all of  the economic benefits embodied in the investment 

properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining the Group’s deferred tax 

for investment properties, the directors have adopted the presumption that investment properties 

measured using the fair value model are recovered through sale.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Continued)

 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of  estimation uncertainty at the end 

of  the reporting period, that have a significant risk of  causing a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of  assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

 (a) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values and related depreciation charges 

for the Group’s property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience 

of  the actual useful lives and residual values of  property, plant and equipment of  similar nature 

and functions. The Group will revise the depreciation charge where useful lives and residual values 

are different to those previously estimated, or it will write-off  or write-down technically obsolete 

or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned.

The carrying amount of  property, plant and equipment as at 30 September 2017 was 

HK$99,605,000 (2016: HK$56,549,000).

 (b) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required 

in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for 

which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of  business. Where 

the final tax outcome of  these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, 

such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which 

such determination is made. During the year, HK$5,671,000 (2016: HK$3,585,000) of  income tax 

was charged to profit or loss based on the estimated profit.

 (c) Fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer to assess the fair value of the investment 

properties. In determining the fair value, the valuer has utilised a method of  valuation which 

involves certain estimates. The directors have exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the 

method of  valuation and inputs used are reflective of  the current market conditions.

The carrying amount of investment properties as at 30 September 2017 was HK$75,400,000 (2016: 

HK$73,920,000).
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Continued)

 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

 (d) Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts based on assessments of  the 

recoverability of  the trade and other receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the 

past collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise where events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the balances may not be collectible. The identification of  bad and doubtful debts, in 

particular of  a loss event, requires the use of  judgement and estimates. Where the actual result is 

different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of the trade and 

other receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the year in which such estimate has been changed.

No allowance for bad and doubtful debts was made for the year ended 30 September 2017 (2016: 

nil).

 (e) Allowance for slow-moving inventories and net realisable value of inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on the ageing and estimated net realisable 

value of  inventories. The assessment of  the allowance amount involves judgement and estimates. 

Where the actual outcome in future is different from the original estimate, such difference will 

impact the carrying value of  inventories and allowance charge/write-back in the period in which 

such estimate has been changed.

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of  business, 

less estimated costs of completion and selling expense. These estimates are based on current market 

conditions and the historical experience of  manufacturing and selling products of  similar nature. 

It could change significantly as a result of  changes in customer’s taste and competitor’s actions 

in response to severe industry cycles. The Group will reassess the estimates by the end of  each 

reporting period.

No allowance for slow-moving inventories was made for the year ended 30 September 2017 (2016: 

nil).

 (f) Impairment of investment in associates

Determining whether investment in associates are impaired requires an estimation of  the 

recoverable amount of  the investment in associates, when indicators of  potential impairment are 

identified. The carrying amount of investment in an associate at the end of the reporting period was 

HK$2,753,000 (2016: HK$56,069,000) and the accumulated impairment loss was HK$38,393,000 

(2016: Nil).
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of  financial risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, 

liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the 

unpredictability of  financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s 

financial performance.

 (a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as most of its business transactions, assets 

and liabilities are principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), Renminbi (“RMB”), 

Vietnam Dong (“VND”), Indonesian Rupiah (“IDR”), Euro, New Taiwan dollar (“TWD”), Macau 

Palaca (“MOP”) and United States dollars (“USD”). The Group currently does not have a foreign 

currency hedging policy in respect of  foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The 

Group monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign 

currency exposure should the need arise.

At 30 September 2017, if  the HK$ had weakened 5 per cent against the RMB with all other 

variables held constant, consolidated loss after tax for the year would have been HK$137,000 

higher (2016: consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been HK$198,000 lower), arising 

mainly as a result of  the foreign exchange loss on trade and bills receivable denominated in HK$. 

If  the HK$ had strengthened 5 per cent against the RMB with all other variables held constant, 

consolidated loss after tax for the year would have been HK$137,000 lower (2016: consolidated 

profit after tax for the year would have been HK$198,000 higher), arising mainly as a result of  

the foreign exchange gain on trade and bills receivable denominated in HK$.

At 30 September 2017, if  the RMB had weakened 5 per cent against the USD with all other 

variables held constant, consolidated loss after tax for the year would have been HK$331,000 lower 

(2016: consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been HK$388,000 higher), arising 

mainly as a result of  the net foreign exchange gain on trade and bills receivable and trade and 

bills payable denominated in USD. If  the RMB had strengthened 5 per cent against the USD 

with all other variables held constant, consolidated loss after tax for the year would have been 

HK$331,000 higher (2016: consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been HK$388,000 

lower), arising mainly as a result of  the net foreign exchange loss on trade and bills receivable 

and trade and bills payable denominated in USD.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

 (a) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

At 30 September 2017, if  the VND had weakened 5 per cent against USD with all other variables 

held constant, consolidated loss after tax for the year would have been HK$1,787,000 lower (2016: 

consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been HK$2,249,000 higher), arising mainly 

as a result of  the foreign exchange gain on trade and bills receivable denominated in USD. If  the 

VND had strengthened 5 per cent against USD with all other variables held constant, consolidated 

loss after tax for the year would have been HK$1,787,000 higher (2016: consolidated profit after 

tax for the year would have been HK$2,249,000 lower), arising mainly as a result of  the foreign 

exchange loss on trade and bills receivable denominated in USD.

At 30 September 2017, if  the IDR had weakened 5 per cent against USD with all other variables 

held constant, consolidated loss after tax for the year would have been HK$463,000 lower (2016: 

consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been HK$36,000 lower), arising mainly as a 

result of  the foreign exchange gain on trade and bills receivable (2016: foreign exchange loss on 

trade and bills payable) denominated in USD. If the IDR had strengthened 5 per cent against USD 

with all other variables held constant, consolidated loss after tax for the year would have been 

HK$463,000 higher (2016: consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been HK$36,000 

higher), arising mainly as a result of  the foreign exchange loss on trade and bills receivable (2016: 

foreign exchange gain on trade and bills payable) denominated in USD.

 (b) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade, bills and other receivables. In order 

to minimise credit risk, the directors review the recoverable amount of  each individual trade debt 

regularly to ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised for irrecoverable debts. In this 

regard, the directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Credit risk is concentrated in one (2016: two) customer, which accounted for HK$19,742,000 or 

15% (2016: HK$30,235,000 or 26%) of  the Group’s total trade receivables. However, management 

considers, based on the good credit history and the long-term business relationship with that 

customer, there are no significant credit risks.

It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to customers with an appropriate credit 

history.

The credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited because the counterparties are banks with 

acceptable credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

 (c) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure 

that it maintains sufficient reserves of  cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and 

longer term.

The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s non-derivative 

financial liabilities is as follows:

On demand
Less than  

1 year

Between  
1 and 2 

years

Between  
2 and 5 

years Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Financial liabilities

At 30 September 2017
Trade, bills and other 

payables — 81,199 — — 81,199
Amount due to a related 

company 4,582 — — — 4,582
Bank loans (note) 27,164 — — — 27,164      

31,746 81,199 — — 112,945
      

Financial liabilities

At 30 September 2016
Trade, bills and other 

payables — 52,440 — — 52,440
Amount due to a related 

company 4,723 — — — 4,723
Bank loans (note) 44,913 — — — 44,913      

49,636 52,440 — — 102,076
      

Note:

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on demand” time band in the above maturity 

analysis. As at 30 September 2017 and 30 September 2016, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of  these 

bank loans amounted to HK$27,164,000 and HK$44,913,000 respectively. Taking into account the Group’s financial 

position, the directors do not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to 

demand immediate repayment. The directors believe that such bank loans will be repaid one to three years after the 

end of  the reporting period in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. At 

that time, the aggregate principal and interest cash outflows will amount to HK$27,907,000 (2016: HK$46,265,000).
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

 (d) Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk primarily relates to variable-rate bank deposits and bank 

loans. It is the Group’s policy to keep its borrowing at floating rate of  interest so as to minimise 

the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of  HIBOR 

arising from the Group’s HK$ denominated borrowing.

The Group’s restricted bank deposits bear interests at fixed interest rates and therefore are subject 

to fair value interest rate risks.

The Group’s exposure to interest-risk arises from its bank deposits and bank borrowings. These 

deposits and borrowing bear interests at variable rates that vary with the then prevailing market 

condition.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for 

interest bearing bank balances and bank loans at the end of  the reporting period and assumed 

that the amount of  assets and liabilities outstanding at the end of  the reporting period was 

outstanding for the whole year. 50 basis points (2016: 50 basis points) were used when reporting 

interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment 

of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. The management does not anticipate a decrease 

in interest rate in the next financial year having regard to the trends in market interest rates and 

global economic environment. Accordingly, sensitivity analysis on a decrease in interest rates is 

not presented.

If  interest rates on bank balances and bank loans had been 50 basis points (2016: 50 basis points) 

higher and all other variables were held constant, the potential effect on (loss)/profit for the year 

is as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Decrease in loss (2016: increase in profit) for the year 164 179
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

 (e) Categories of financial instruments

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Financial assets

Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 263,543 269,402
   

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 111,621 100,935
   

 (f) Fair values

The carrying amounts of  the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the 

consolidated statement of  financial position approximate their respective fair values.

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of  fair 

value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs to valuation 

techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 

the Group can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs:  inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for 

the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs:  unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of  any of  the three levels as of  the 

date of  the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

 (a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 30 September 2017:

Fair value 

measurements 

using  

Level 3

Total  

2017

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Description

Recurring fair value measurements:

Investment properties

Office units — Macau 70,700 70,700

Office units — PRC 4,700 4,700   

75,400 75,400   

Total 75,400 75,400
   

Fair value 

measurements 

using  

Level 3

Total  

2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Description

Recurring fair value measurements:

Investment properties

Office units — Macau 69,310 69,310

Office units — PRC 4,610 4,610   

73,920 73,920   

Total 73,920 73,920
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

 (b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based on level 3:

Description

Other  

financial assets

Investment 

properties

2017  

Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

At 1 October — 73,920 73,920

Total gains or (losses) recognised in  

profit or loss(#) — 1,480 1,480    

At 30 September — 75,400 75,400
    

(#) Include gains or (losses) for assets  

held at end of  reporting period — 1,480 1,480
    

Description

Other  

financial assets

Investment 

Properties

2016  

Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

At 1 October 7,380 72,660 80,040

Total gains or (losses) recognised in  

profit or loss(#) (7,380) 1,260 (6,120)    

At 30 September — 73,920 73,920
    

(#) Include gains or (losses) for assets  

held at end of  reporting period — 1,260 1,260
    

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss including those for assets held at end of  

reporting period are presented in changes in fair value of  other financial assets and investment 

properties in the consolidated statement of  profit or loss.
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

 (c)  Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair 
value measurements at 30 September 2017:

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for the fair value measurements of  assets and 

liabilities required for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements. The 

financial controller reports directly to the Board of  Directors for these fair value measurements. 

Discussions of  valuation processes and results are held between the financial controller and the 

Board of  Directors at least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally engage external valuation experts 

with the recognised professional qualifications and recent experience to perform the valuations.

Key unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value measurements are mainly:

— Floor level difference (estimated based on valuation experts’ in-house database)

— Size difference (estimated based on actual data)

— View difference (estimated based on valuation experts’ in-house database)

— Market quote adjustment factor (estimated based on valuation experts’ in-house database)

— Market yield (based on public information on valuation experts’ in-house database)
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

 (c)  Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair 
value measurements at 30 September 2017: (Continued)

  Level 3 fair value measurements

Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range

Effect on 

fair value for 

increase of 

inputs 

Fair value

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
       
Office units located 

in Macau

Income approach Floor level 

difference

0% to 6%  

(2016: 0% to 6%)

Increase 70,700 69,310

Size difference -0.03% to 3.75%  

(2016: -0.1% to 4%)

Increase

View difference —  

(2016: -5% to 0%)

Increase

Market yield 2.1% to 2.7%  

(2016: 1.7% to 2.7%)

Decrease

Office units located 

in PRC

Income approach Size difference -7.1% to -6.1%  

(2016: -7.3% to -6.4%)

Increase 4,700 4,610

Market quote 

adjustment factor

-10%  

(2016: -10% to -5%)

Increase

Market yield 5.16% to 5.17% 

(2016: 5.5% to 6%)

Decrease

During the two years, there were no significant changes in the valuation techniques used.
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8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive Directors of  the Company regularly review revenue analysis by products, including 

vulcanized shoes adhesive related products, electronic adhesive related products, other shoe adhesives, 

primers, hardeners and others, and by locations. The executive Directors of  Company considered that 

the operating activities of  manufacture, sales and trading of  adhesives as a single operation segment. 

The operating segment has been identified on the basis of  internal management reports prepared in 

accordance with accounting policies conform to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, that are 

regularly reviewed by the executive Directors of  the Company. The executive Directors of  the Company 

review the overall result of  the Group as a whole to make decisions about resources allocation. 

Accordingly, no analysis of  this single operating segment is presented.

 Entity-wide information

An analysis of  the Group’s revenue by products is as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Sales of
—  vulcanized shoes adhesive related products and other shoe  

 adhesives 348,723 340,726
— primers 61,867 49,372
— hardeners 57,767 53,890
— electronic adhesive related products 34,364 23,924
— others 36,836 28,307   

539,557 496,219
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8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

 Entity-wide information (Continued)

Revenue from external customers, based on geographical locations of customers, attributed to the Group 

is as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Revenue
— PRC 178,734 177,958
— Vietnam 281,671 255,560
— Indonesia 35,763 34,734
— Bangladesh 43,389 27,967   

539,557 496,219
   

During the year, there was a customer contributing revenue of HK$190,788,000 (2016: HK$169,284,000) 

which accounted for more than 35% (2016: 34%) of  the Group’s total revenue.

An analysis of  the Group’s non-current assets by their geographical location is as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Hong Kong 293 509

PRC 40,423 91,698

Macau 81,293 87,551

Vietnam 69,674 40,745

Indonesia 1,384 1,901

Others 109 107   

193,176 222,511
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9. OTHER INCOME

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Interest income on bank deposits 748 649

Income from sale of  scrap materials 519 381

Government grants (note) 1,178 598

Gross rental income from investment properties 1,846 1,932

Other 765 452   

5,056 4,012
   

Note:  Government grants mainly related to the subsidies received from the local government authority for the achievements 

of  the subsidiaries of  the Group.

10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Exchange gains/(losses), net 418 (938)

Loss on disposal of  property, plant and equipment (458) (2)

Written off  of  property, plant and equipment (363) —

Others (403) (125)   

(806) (1,065)
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Current tax:

Provision for the year
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“PRC EIT”) 833 1,695
— Macau complementary tax 1,485 1,543
— Vietnam Enterprise Income Tax (“Vietnam EIT”) 1,949 194
— Indonesian Corporate Income Tax (“Indonesian CIT”) 749 334

Under/(over)-provision in prior years 336 (257)   

5,352 3,509   

Deferred taxation (note 30) 319 76   

5,671 3,585
   

The PRC EIT, Macau complementary tax, Vietnam EIT and Indonesian CIT are calculated at the 

applicable rates in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the respective jurisdictions.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Macau, the Macau subsidiaries are subject to Macau 

complementary tax at a maximum rate of  12%.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, a subsidiary in the PRC, 珠海市澤濤黏合製
品有限公司 (Centresin Chemical Products Ltd., Zhuhai) (“Zhuhai Centresin”), is recognised as a High 

and New Technology Enterprise by the relevant PRC government authorities and Zhuhai Centresin 

was therefore entitled to enjoy a concessionary Enterprise Income Tax rate of  15% for the year ended 

30 September 2017.

According to a joint circular of Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation, Cai Shui 

(2008) No. 1, only the profits earned by Zhuhai Centresin and 中山信諾黏合製品有限公司 (Zhongshan 

Macson Adhesive Products Co., Ltd.) (“Zhongshan Macson”) prior to 1 January 2008, when distributed 

to foreign investors, can be grandfathered with the exemption from withholding tax. Whereas, dividend 

distributed out of  the profit generated thereafter, shall be subject to EIT at 10% and withheld by the 

PRC entities aforementioned, where appropriate. Deferred tax liability on the undistributed profits 

earned since 1 January 2008 have been accrued at the tax rate of  10%.
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Vietnam, Zhong Bu Adhesive (Vietnam) Co., Ltd. 

(“Vietnam Centresin”) was entitled to preferential Enterprise Income Tax rate of  15% from 2005 to 

2016 and entitled exemption from Vietnam EIT for three years commencing from its first profit-making 

year in 2006, followed by a 50% reduction from 2009 to 2015.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Indonesia, PT. Zhong Bu Adhesive Indonesia, is subject 

to Indonesian Corporate Income Tax at 25%.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group’s income neither arises in, nor 

is derived from, Hong Kong.

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the product of (loss)/profit before tax multiplied 

by the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate is as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

(Loss)/profit before taxation (14,608) 40,744   

Tax at the PRC EIT rate of  25% (2016: 25%) (3,652) 10,186

Tax effect of  expenses not deductible for tax purposes 9,694 4,441

Tax effect of  income not taxable for tax purposes (369) (1,916)

Tax effect of  tax exemption and tax concession granted to  

certain subsidiaries (6,050) (10,784)

Tax effect of  tax losses not recognised 1,906 5,248

Withholding tax on undistributed earnings 152 (37)

Effect of  different tax rates of  subsidiaries operating in other 

jurisdictions 3,435 (4,008)

Under-provision/(over-provision) in prior years 336 (257)

Temporary difference not recognised 219 712   

Tax charge and effective tax rate for the year 5,671 3,585
   



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited  Annual Report 2017

For the year ended 30 September 2017

94

12. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

The Group’s (loss)/profit for the year is stated after charging the following:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Auditor’s remuneration
— audit service 1,200 1,100
— non-audit services 556 591

Amortisation of
— intangible assets 10,337 10,737
— prepaid lease payments on land use rights 413 444

Depreciation 6,879 5,981

Impairment of  intangible assets (included in administrative 

expenses) — 7,600

Operating lease rentals in respect of
— motor vehicles 3,288 3,069
— rented premises and leasehold land 4,204 4,883

Royalty fees included in cost of  goods sold 2,830 3,193

Research and development expenses 3,100 1,678

Written off  of  inventories 415 676

Written off  of  trade receivables 348 297

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants 1,431 452

And after crediting:

Gross property rental income before deduction of  outgoings 1,846 1,932

Less: Outgoings (235) (380)   

1,611 1,552
   

Cost of  inventories sold includes staff  costs, depreciation and operating lease charges of  approximately 

HK$13,793,000 (2016: HK$13,861,000) which are included in the amounts disclosed separately.
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13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Employee benefits expense:

Salaries, bonuses and allowances 47,469 47,294

Equity-settled share-based payments 52 270

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 9,752 4,284

57,273 51,848
   

 Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year included five (2016: five) directors whose 

emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in note 14(a).

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

 (a) Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of  every director is set out below:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,  

whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

Fees Salaries

Discretionary 

bonus

(Note i) 

Estimated 

money value of 

other benefits

Employer’s 

contribution to 

a retirement 

benefit scheme Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

Name of director

Mr. Ieong Un — 3,197 805 4 224 4,230

Mr. Ip Chin Wing — 1,638 175 4 115 1,932

Mr. Ip Ka Lun — 1,638 169 4 115 1,926

Mr. Stephen Graham Prince — 1,638 308 4 115 2,065

Mr. Tong Yiu On — 1,638 123 4 115 1,880

Mr. Chan Wing Yau, George 144 — — 4 — 148

Mr. Simon Luk 144 — — — — 144

Mr. Tong Hing Wah 144 — — — — 144       

Total for 2017 432 9,749 1,580 24 684 12,469
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14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

 (a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of  a person’s services as a director,  

whether of  the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

Fees Salaries

Discretionary 

bonus

(Note i) 

Estimated 

money value of   

other benefits

Employer’s 

contribution to  

a retirement 

benefit scheme Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

Name of director

Mr. Ieong Un — 2,808 1,553 7 218 4,586

Mr. Ip Chin Wing — 1,440 168 7 112 1,727

Mr. Ip Ka Lun — 1,440 184 7 112 1,743

Mr. Stephen Graham Prince — 1,440 218 7 112 1,777

Mr. Tong Yiu On — 1,440 242 7 112 1,801

Mr. Chan Wing Yau, George 138 — — 7 — 145

Mr. Simon Luk 138 — — — — 138

Mr. Tong Hing Wah 138 — — — — 138       

Total for 2016 414 8,568 2,365 42 666 12,055
       

Notes:

(i) Estimated money values of  other benefits comprise share options.

Neither the chief  executive nor any of the directors waived any emoluments during the year (2016: 

nil).

 (b) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in this consolidated financial statements, and contracts amongst group companies, 

no other significant transactions, arrangements and contracts to which the Company was a party 

and in which a director of  the Company and other director’s connected party had a material 

interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of  the year or at any time during the 

year.

15. DIVIDENDS

During the year, the final dividend for 2016 of  HK2.1 cents (2016: final dividend for 2015 of  HK2.4 

cents) per ordinary share, totalling approximately HK$13,266,000 (2016: HK$15,161,000) was declared 

and paid to the shareholders.
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15. DIVIDENDS (Continued)

The final dividend for 2017 of  HK2.1 cents per share has been proposed by the Directors and is 

subject to approval by the shareholders at the annual general meeting. The proposed final dividend of  

approximately HK$13,067,000 is calculated on the basis of  622,227,076 shares in issue at the date of  

this report.

16. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

 (a) Basic

The calculation of  the basic (loss)/earnings per share for the year is based on the consolidated 

(loss)/profit attributable to the owners of  the Company and on the weighted average number of  

approximately 631,774,024 (2016: 633,670,967) shares in issue during the year.

2017 2016
   

(Loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of  the Company 
(HK$’000) (20,279) 37,159

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic (loss)/
earnings per share (thousand shares) 631,774 633,671

Basic (loss)/earnings per share HK(3.21) cents HK5.87 cents
   

 (b) Diluted

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of  

ordinary shares outstanding by the assumption of the conversion of all potential dilutive ordinary 

shares arising from share options granted by the Company (collectively forming the denominator 

for computing diluted (loss)/earnings per share). No adjustment is made to (loss)/earnings 

(numerator).

2017 2016
   

(Loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of  the Company 
(HK$’000) (20,279) 37,159

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic (loss)/
earnings per share (thousand shares) 631,774 633,671

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares upon the exercise 
of  share options (thousand shares) — 770

Weighted average number of  ordinary shares for diluted 
(loss)/earnings per share (thousand shares) 631,774 634,441

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share HK(3.21) cents HK5.86 cents
   

The effect of  all potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive for the year ended 30 September 2017.
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

HK$’000
  

Fair value

At 1 October 2015 72,660

Net increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss during the year 1,260  

At 30 September 2016 73,920

Net increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss during the year 1,480  

At 30 September 2017 75,400
  

Investment properties were revalued at 30 September 2017 and 2016 by Ascent Partners Valuation 

Service Limited and LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited, independent firms of  chartered surveyors 

respectively.

Valuation for Macau and PRC office units was derived using the Income Approach (or sometimes 

referred to as a method of the Market Approach for the reversionary interests and the rate of return are 

market-derived) by taking into account the current rent receivables from the existing tenancy agreements 

and the reversionary potential of  the property interests.

At 30 September 2017, the carrying amount of investment properties pledged as security for the Group’s 

bank loans amounted to HK$70,700,000 (2016: HK$69,310,000).
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land and 

buildings

Furniture, 

fixtures 

and 

equipment

Leasehold 

improvements

Motor 

vehicles

Plant and 

machinery

Construction 

in progress Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
        

COST

At 1 October 2015 28,828 7,634 5,650 4,849 31,955 8,949 87,865

Currency realignment (1,005) (1,108) (118) (231) (520) (291) (3,273)

Additions — 491 275 300 315 19,208 20,589

Disposals — — — — (28) — (28)        

At 30 September 2016 and 

1 October 2016 27,823 7,017 5,807 4,918 31,722 27,866 105,153

Currency realignment 372 93 8 13 247 (148) 585

Additions 1,619 1,017 — 492 3,217 44,591 50,936

Transfer from CIP 31,926 1,078 — 50 28,607 (61,661) —

Disposals — (313) — (287) (1,413) — (2,013)

Written off (454) (122) — — (978) — (1,554)        

At 30 September 2017 61,286 8,770 5,815 5,186 61,402 10,648 153,107        

ACCUMULATED 

DEPRECIATION

At 1 October 2015 11,741 3,982 5,055 3,774 20,369 — 44,921

Currency realignment (761) (443) (112) (204) (752) — (2,272)

Charges for the year 1,174 811 187 319 3,490 — 5,981

Disposals — — — — (26) — (26)        

At 30 September 2016 and 

1 October 2016 12,154 4,350 5,130 3,889 23,081 — 48,604

Currency realignment 220 54 — 5 356 — 635

Charges for the year 1,796 751 193 582 3,557 — 6,879

Disposals — (265) — (257) (903) — (1,425)

Written off (341) (76) — — (774) — (1,191)        

At 30 September 2017 13,829 4,814 5,323 4,219 25,317 — 53,502        

CARRYING VALUES

At 30 September 2017 47,457 3,956 492 967 36,085 10,648 99,605
        

At 30 September 2016 15,669 2,667 677 1,029 8,641 27,866 56,549
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

At 30 September 2017 the carrying amount of  property, plant and equipment pledged as security for 

the Group’s bank loans amounted to HK$3,786,000 (2016: HK$3,894,000).

19. LAND USE RIGHTS

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Carrying amount

At 1 October 13,544 14,048

Currency realignment (285) (60)

Amortisation for the year (413) (444)   

At 30 September 12,846 13,544
   

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

Current asset (included in trade, bills and other receivables) 410 444

Non-current asset 12,436 13,100   

12,846 13,544
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Club 

membership

Formula 

rights

Customer 

relationship Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Cost

At 1 October 2015 1,550 1,600 40,000 43,150

Exchange alignment 6 — — 6     

At 30 September 2016 1,556 1,600 40,000 43,156

Exchange alignment (14) — — (14)     

At 30 September 2017 1,542 1,600 40,000 43,142     

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

At 1 October 2015 22 640 12,000 12,662

Amortisation 17 320 10,400 10,737

Impairment loss — — 7,600 7,600     

At 30 September 2016 39 960 30,000 30,999

Amortisation 17 320 10,000 10,337     

At 30 September 2017 56 1,280 40,000 41,336     

Net book value at 30 September 2017 1,486 320 — 1,806
     

Net book value at 30 September 2016 1,517 640 10,000 12,157
     

Intangible assets represent (i) the established customer relationship acquired and was estimated to have 

an useful life of  10 years. During the year ended 30 September 2016, the Group changed the estimated 

useful life of  the customer relationship from 10 years to approximately 5 years. As a result of  this 

change in accounting estimate, the amortisation charge increased by HK$6,000,000 and HK$6,400,000 

for the years ended 30 September 2017 and 2016 respectively; (ii) club memberships acquired with both 

finite and indefinite useful lives; and (iii) formula and know-how acquired for an estimated useful life 

of  5 years. The carrying amounts as at 30 September 2017 and 30 September 2016 represents the cost 

less accumulated amortisation and impairment, if  any.

The average remaining amortisation period of  the club membership with finite useful lives, the formula 

rights and customer relationship are 41 years (2016: 42 years), 1 year (2016: 2 years) and Nil (2016: 1 

year) respectively.
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21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of  the Company’s subsidiaries, all of  which are wholly-owned by the Company, as at 

30 September 2017 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of incorporation/

establishment/operations

Nominal value of issued 

and fully paid share 

capital/registered capital/

charter capital/ 

quota capital Principal activities    

Keen Castle Limited* British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) Shares — US$2,000 Investment holding

PT. Zhong Bu Adhesive  

Indonesia

Republic of  Indonesia Paid up capital — 

US$300,000

Processing and packaging 

of  adhesive products

Zhong Bu Adhesive (Vietnam)  

Co., Ltd.

Socialist Republic of  Vietnam Chartered capital — 

US$9,200,000

Processing and packaging 

of  adhesive products

珠海市澤濤黏合製品有限公司
(Zhuhai Centresin Chemical 

Product Company Ltd)

PRC Registered capital — 

HK$31,000,000

Manufacture of  adhesive 

products

中山信諾黏合製品有限公司
(Zhongshan Macson Chemical 

Product Company Ltd)

PRC Registered capital — 

HK$7,000,000

Manufacture of  adhesive 

products

廣州市雅威貿易有限公司
(Guangzhou Shi Yawei Trading 

Company Limited)

PRC Registered capital — 

RMB1,500,000

Trading of  electronic 

adhesive products

Iao Son Hong Paint Company 

Limited

Macau Quota capital — 

MOP900,000

Provision of  agency 

services for the 

Group’s raw material 

procurement and 

distribution of  adhesive 

products

Infinity Development Macao 

Commercial Offshore Limited

Macau Quota capital — 

MOP100,000

Provision of  promotion, 

marketing, R&D, 

technical assistance and 

administrative support 

services

Huu Tin Hang Company Limited Socialist Republic of  Vietnam Chartered capital — 

VND600,000,000

Processing and packing of  

adhesive products
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21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of  the Company’s subsidiaries, all of  which are wholly-owned by the Company, as at 

30 September 2017 are as follows: (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

Place of incorporation/

establishment/operations

Nominal value of issued 

and fully paid share 

capital/registered capital/

charter capital/ 

quota capital Principal activities    

Grace Power Polymer Commercial 

Development Co. Ltd.

Macau Quota capital — 

MOP100,000

Trading of  electronic 

adhesive products

Great Oasis International Limited BVI Shares — US$100 Trading of  raw materials 

and adhesive products

Zhong Bu (Centresin) Adhesive  

& Chemical Co., Ltd.

Macau Quota capital — 

MOP100,000

Administrative support 

for the operation 

in Cambodia and 

Bangladesh

Macson Company Limited Macau Quota capital — 

MOP100,000

Investment holding

Long Fortune Holding Company 

Limited

Macau Quota capital — 

MOP100,000

Investment holding

Rank Best Investments Limited BVI Shares — US$1 Investment holding

Ally Link Investments Limited BVI Shares — US$100 Investment holding

Rich Castle Holdings Limited Macau Quota capital — 

MOP100,000

Investment holding

Starry Skyline Limited BVI Shares — US$1 Investment holding

Sonic Expand Limited BVI Shares — US$1 Investment holding

Aerial Bright Limited BVI Shares — US$1 Investment holding

Righton Company Limited Macau Quota capital — 

MOP100,000

Investment holding

Big Capital Development Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of  

HK$1 each

Investment holding
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21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of  the Company’s subsidiaries, all of  which are wholly-owned by the Company, as at 

30 September 2017 are as follows: (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

Place of incorporation/

establishment/operations

Nominal value of issued 

and fully paid share 

capital/registered capital/

charter capital/ 

quota capital Principal activities    

Greenfield Company Limited Macau Quota capital — 

MOP100,000

Inactive

Bracorp Consulting Inc. BVI Shares — US$100 Inactive

Star Grand International Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of  

HK$1 each

Inactive

Deluxe Jet Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of  

HK$1 each

Inactive

廣州星謙新能源有限責任公司 PRC Registered capital — 

US$10,000,000

Inactive

Benino Corporation BVI Shares — US$35.11 Inactive

* Directly held by the Company.

22. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Share of  net (liabilities)/assets (2,068) 12,856

Goodwill 43,214 43,213   

41,146 56,069

Accumulated impairment losses (Note) (38,393) —   

2,753 56,069
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22. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Details of  the Group’s associates at 30 September 2017 are as follows:

Name Place of incorporation

Particular of issued 

and paid up capital

Percentage of 

ownership interest
    

Blue Sky Energy Efficiency 

Company Limited

BVI 50,000 ordinary 

shares of  US$1 each

40% (2016: 40%)

Warrant Parking Management 

Limited

Macau Quota capital — 

MOP2,000

40% (2016: Nil)

The Group recognised impairment losses of  HK$38,393,000 for the year ended 30 September 2017 on 

its investment in associate, Blue Sky Energy Efficiency Company Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Blue 

Sky Group”). The Blue Sky Group acquired an equity interest in a group which engages in bioenergy 

research and ethanol production in the PRC (the “PRC operation”) during the year. The PRC operation 

was unable to commence production as planned following the acquisition due to certain technical 

difficulties and there was no definite timetable to do so. In addition, the Blue Sky Group was unable 

to successfully execute or dispose of  its two potential energy efficiency projects during the year.

In light of  these events and circumstances, the directors of  the Group considered that indicators of  

impairment existed in respect of  the investment in the Blue Sky Group and engaged an independent 

professional valuer, LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited to determine its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of  the investment in the Blue Sky Group was based on its fair value less costs 

of  disposal estimated using the cost approach. The fair value measurement is categorized as level 3. 

The impairment loss reflects the condition of  certain obsolete and dismantled equipment of  the PRC 

operation and the fact that the Blue Sky Group had no energy saving projects or contracts on hand as 

at 30 September 2017. The key assumptions relate to the value of  the underlying assets and liabilities 

of  the Blue Sky Group (including those of  the PRC operation) and include the expected resale values 

and disposal costs of  those assets.
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22. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The following table shows information on the associate that are material to the Group. The associate 

is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method. The summarised 

financial information presented is based on the unaudited financial statements of  the associate for the 

year ended 30 September 2017 prepared under HKFRSs.

Name

Blue Sky Energy 

Efficiency Company 

Limited
  

Principal place of  business/country of  incorporation PRC/BVI

% of  ownership interests/ voting rights held by the Group 40%/40%

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

At 30 September

Non-current assets 3,343 4

Current assets 1,662 37,571

Current liabilities (11,089) (5,435)

Non-controlling interests (5,966) —   

Net (liabilities)/assets (12,050) 32,140
   

Group’s share of  net (liabilities)/assets (4,820) 12,856

Goodwill 43,213 43,213   

Group’s share of  carrying amount of  interests before  

impairment loss 38,393 56,069

Less: Accumulated impairment loss (38,393) —   

— 56,069
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22. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Year ended 30 September

Revenue 163 15,000

(Loss)/profit for the year (42,555) 12,958

Other comprehensive income (1,635) (31)   

Total comprehensive income (44,190) 12,927
   

The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group’s share of the amounts of all individually immaterial 

associate that is accounted for using the equity method.

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

At 30 September 2017

Carrying amounts of  interests 2,753 —
   

Year ended 30 September:

Loss for the year (53) —

Other comprehensive income — —   

Total comprehensive income (53) —
   

As at 30 September 2017, the bank and cash balances of the Group’ associates in the PRC denominated 

in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to HK$1,783,000 (2016: Nil). Conversion of  RMB into foreign 

currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of  

Settlement, Sale and Payment of  Foreign Exchange Regulations.
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23. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSET

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

At 1 October — 7,380

Fair value changes — (7,380)   

Profit guarantee, at fair value — —
   

The fair value of other financial assets represented profit guarantee arising from acquisition of the Blue 

Sky Group (note 22).

On 2 May 2014, the Group acquired 20% equity interest of the Blue Sky Group. The total consideration 

was satisfied by cash of  HK$4,200,000 and convertible bonds with an aggregate nominal value of  

HK$16,800,000. Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, the profit guarantee for the Blue Sky 

Group’s total net profit after tax for the period of 24 months commencing from the date of completion, 

should not be less than HK$30,000,000. In the event of guaranteed profit could not be met, the shortfall 

amount would be compensated by the vendor.

The fair value of  profit guarantee of  Blue Sky Group as at date of  acquisition was approximately 

HK$13,880,000, which was based on valuation performed by an independent professional qualified 

valuer, International Valuation Limited, using a Black-Scholes model.

As the profit guarantee period of  24 months expired in year ended 30 September 2016 and the profit 

guarantee were achieved, the carrying amount of  other financial asset was transferred to the profit or 

loss at the end of  the profit guarantee period.

24. INVENTORIES

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Raw materials 36,032 23,942

Finished goods 27,306 30,691   

63,338 54,633
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25. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Trade receivables 134,024 116,521

Bills receivables 11,553 11,597   

145,577 128,118

Value-added tax recoverable 4,364 3,638

Other receivables 8,850 14,215

Prepayments 5,002 2,330

Land use rights 410 444   

164,203 148,745
   

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on credit. The credit terms generally range from 

15 to 120 days.

The aging analysis of  trade and bills receivables, based on the invoice date is as follows:

Age

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

0 to 30 days 73,914 62,940

31 to 60 days 41,798 34,657

61 to 90 days 16,451 17,539

91 to 180 days 12,267 9,376

181 to 365 days 880 3,461

Over 1 year 267 145   

145,577 128,118
   

As of  30 September 2017, trade receivable of  HK$25,012,000 (2016: HK$21,811,000) were past due but 

not impaired. These relate to a number of  independent customers for whom there is no recent history 

of  default.
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25. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The aging analysis of  these trade receivables is as follows:

Age

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

0 to 30 days 18,687 14,690

31 to 60 days 1,902 1,062

61 to 90 days 3,123 2,005

91 to 180 days 882 3,753

181 to 365 days 151 156

Over 1 year 267 145   

25,012 21,811
   

The carrying amounts of  the Group’s trade and bills receivables are denominated in the following 

currencies:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

USD 81,973 60,036

RMB 52,541 40,436

TWD 1,087 1,252

IDR 2,190 15,633

VND 61 653

HK$ 7,725 10,108   

Total 145,577 128,118   

26. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK AND CASH BALANCES

The Group’s restricted bank deposits represented deposits pledged to banks to secure certain bills 

payables, bank overdrafts and bank loans.
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26.  RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK AND CASH BALANCES 
(Continued)

The carrying amounts of  the Group’s restricted bank deposits and bank and cash balances are 

denominated in the following currencies:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

HK$ 66,062 62,449

USD 31,149 54,463

RMB 7,736 5,418

VND 1,307 2,332

Macau Palaca 1,625 1,302

IDR 748 663

Bangladeshi Taka 437 393

TWD 52 49   

109,116 127,069
   

As at 30 September 2017, the bank and cash balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) 

amounted to approximately HK$7,736,000 (2016: HK$5,418,000). Conversion of  RMB into foreign 

currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of  

Settlement, Sale and Payment of  Foreign Exchange Regulations.

27. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Trade payables 41,179 25,284

Bills payables — secured 4,718 1,653   

45,897 26,937

Customers’ deposits received 1,324 1,141

Accruals 33,459 23,888

Others 519 474   

81,199 52,440
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27. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The Group normally receives credit terms of  30 to 60 days from its suppliers. The aging analysis of  

trade payables, based on the date of  receipt of  goods, is as follows:

Age

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

0 to 30 days 42,683 24,901

31 to 60 days 2,931 1,830

61 to 90 days 248 66

91 to 180 days 35 101

181 to 365 days — 23

Over 1 year — 16   

45,897 26,937
   

The carrying amounts of  the Group’s trade and bills payables are denominated in the following 

currencies:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Euro 417 17

RMB 23,871 17,194

USD 18,195 7,127

IDR 1,610 1,137

VND 1,390 832

Japanese Yen 71 195

HK$ 343 435   

45,897 26,937
   

28. AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY

The amount due to Easy Ray Holdings Limited, a company controlled by Mr. Ieong Un, a director of  

the Company, is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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29. BANK LOANS

The bank loans are repayable as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Within one year 16,828 23,202

Portion of  bank loans that are due for repayment after one year 

but contain a repayment on demand clause (shown under 

current liabilities) 10,336 21,711   

27,164 44,913

Less: Amounts due for settlement within 12 months  

(shown under current liabilities) (27,164) (44,913)   

Amount due for settlement after 12 months — —
   

All bank loans are denominated in HK$.

The bank loans are arranged at variable interest rates at the best lending rate in Macau or the Hong 

Kong Interbank Borrowing Rate (“HIBOR”). At 30 September 2017, the average interest rate of  the 

bank loans was 2.91% (2016: 3.61%) per annum.

Bank loans of  the Group are secured by a charge over the Group’s investment properties (note 17); 

certain land and buildings (note 18) and restricted bank deposits (note 26) and corporate guarantee 

provided by the Company.
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30. DEFERRED TAX

The following are the deferred tax liabilities recognised by the Group:

Withholding tax 

on undistributed 

earnings

Revaluation 

surplus of 

investment 

properties Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

At 1 October 2016 3,562 9,194 12,756

Currency realignment 78 — 78

Charge to profit or loss for the year (note 11) 151 168 319    

At 30 September 2017 3,791 9,362 13,153
    

Withholding tax 

on undistributed 

earnings

Revaluation 

surplus of 

investment 

properties Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

At 1 October 2015 3,764 9,081 12,845

Currency realignment (165) — (165)

Charge to profit or loss for the year (note 11) (37) 113 76    

At 30 September 2016 3,562 9,194 12,756
    

At the end of  the reporting period the Group has unused tax losses of  HK$7,236,000 (2016: 

HK$6,833,000) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised 

in respect of  the unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of  future profit streams. Included in 

unrecognised tax losses are losses of HK$1,803,000 (2016: HK$1,400,000) that will expire in 2022. Other 

tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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31. SHARE CAPITAL

Number  

of shares Amount

Note HK$’000
    

Ordinary shares of  HK$0.01 each

Authorised:

At 1 October 2015, 30 September 2016,  

1 October 2016 and 30 September 2017 5,000,000,000 50,000
    

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 October 2015 642,631,076 6,426

Issue of  shares upon exercise of  share options 34 1,948,000 19

Repurchase of  shares and cancelled (a) (12,860,000) (128)    

At 30 September 2016 and 1 October 2016 631,719,076 6,317

Issue of  shares upon exercise of  share options 34 872,000 9    

At 30 September 2017 632,591,076 6,326
    

Notes:

(a) During the year ended 30 September 2016, the Company repurchased a total of  11,860,000 ordinary shares of  the 

Company on the Stock Exchange and cancelled 12,860,000 ordinary shares, of  which 1,000,000 ordinary shares 

were related to the repurchase of  ordinary shares during the year ended 30 September 2015.

(b) Particulars of  the shares repurchased during the year are as follows:

No. of  

ordinary shares

     Price per share

Aggregate 

consideration and 

other costs paidHighest Lowest

(thousand shares) HK$ HK$ HK$’000
     

2017 Nil Nil Nil Nil

2016

October 2015 4,208 1.45 1.38 5,962

November 2015 7,652 1.40 1.30 10,269
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31. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 

and to maximise the return to the shareholders through the optimisation of  the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of  capital in proportion to risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes 

adjustments to it in the light of  changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of  the underlying 

assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the payment of  dividends, issue 

new shares, buy-back shares, raise new debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of  the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt 

divided by adjusted capital. Total debt comprises borrowings (except for bank overdrafts). Adjusted capital comprises 

all components of  equity (i.e. share capital, retained profits and other reserves).

During 2017, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from 2016, was to maintain the debt-to-adjusted capital 

ratio as low as feasible in order to secure access to finance at a reasonable cost. The debt-to-adjusted capital ratios 

at 30 September 2017 and at 30 September 2016 were as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Total debt 27,164 44,913
Less: cash and cash equivalents (109,116) (127,069)   

Net debt (81,952) (82,156)   

Total equity (395,197) (428,444)   

Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio 21% 19%
   

The increase in the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio during 2017 resulted primarily from decrease of  net debt and 

decrease of  total equity.

The externally imposed capital requirements for the Group are: (i) in order to maintain its listing on the Stock 

Exchange it has to have a public float of  at least 25% of  the shares; and (ii) to meet financial covenants attached 

to the interest-bearing borrowings.

The Group receives a report from the share registrars monthly on substantial share interests showing the non-public 

float and it demonstrates continuing compliance with the 25% limit throughout the year.

Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank to immediately call borrowings. There have 

been no breaches in the financial covenants of  any interest-bearing borrowing for the years ended 30 September 

2017 and 2016.
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32.  STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF 
THE COMPANY

 (a) Statement of financial position of the Company

As at 30 September
2017 2016

Note HK$’000 HK$’000
    

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 119,019 119,019    

Current assets
Due from subsidiaries 113,154 141,738
Trade and other receivables 4 178
Bank and cash balances 614 1,029    

Total current assets 113,772 142,945    

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 777 2,199
Bank loans 13,608 23,516    

Total current liabilities 14,385 25,715    

Net current assets 99,387 117,230    

Net assets 218,406 236,249
    

Capital and reserves
Equity attributable to owners of  the Company
Share capital 6,326 6,317
Other reserves 32(b) 212,080 229,932    

Total equity 218,406 236,249
    

Approved by the Board of  Directors on 29 December 2017 and are signed on its behalf  by:

TONG YIU ON IP KA LUN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
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32.  STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF 
THE COMPANY (Continued)

 (b) Reserve movement of the Company

Share 

capital

Share 

premium

Treasury 

shares

Capital 

redemption 

reserve

Contributed 

surplus

Share-

based 

payment 

reserve 

(Note 

33(b)(ii))

Retained 

profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
         

At 1 October 2015 6,426 195,101 (773) 37 68,244 3,148 942 273,125         

Total comprehensive income for  

the year — — — — — — (8,001) (8,001)

Transfer — — — — (23,162) — 23,162 —

Dividends paid — — — — — — (15,161) (15,161)

Repurchase of  shares — — (16,231) — — — — (16,231)

Cancellation of  shares (128) (17,004) 17,004 128 — — — —

Issue of  shares upon exercise of  share 

options 19 2,278 — — — (544) — 1,753

Share-based payments — — — — — 764 — 764         

Change in equity for the year (109) (14,726) 773 128 (23,162) 220 — (36,876)         

At 30 September 2016 6,317 180,375 — 165 45,082 3,368 942 236,249
         

At 1 October 2016 6,317 180,375 — 165 45,082 3,368 942 236,249         

Total comprehensive income for the year — — — — — — (6,869) (6,869)

Transfer — — — — (20,000) — 20,000 —

Dividends paid — — — — — — (13,266) (13,266)

Issue of  shares upon exercise of  share 

options 9 925 — — — (149) — 785

Share based payments — — — — — 1,507 — 1,507         

Changes in equity for the year 9 925 — — (20,000) 1,358 (135) (17,843)         

At 30 September 2017 6,326 181,300 — 165 25,082 4,726 807 218,406
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33. RESERVES

 (a) Group

The amounts of  the Group’s reserves and movements therein are presented in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes 

in equity.

 (b) Nature and purpose of reserves

  (i) Special reserve

The special reserve represents the aggregate of:

— the differences between the nominal amount of  the shares issued by the Company and 

the Group’s former holding company and the aggregate amount of  paid-in capital of  

the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation in June 2009 and March 

2010 in preparation for the listing of  the Company’s shares in 2010; and

— the difference between the consideration paid by Keen Castle Limited, a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of  the Company, for the acquisition of  the entire equity interest in Rank 

Best Investment Limited and its subsidiaries (“the Rank Best Group”) under common 

control and the aggregate carrying amount of assets and liabilities acquired in the Rank 

Best Group in March 2013.

  (ii) Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents the fair value of  the actual or estimated number 

of  unexercised share options granted to employees of  the Group recognised in accordance 

with the accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share-based payments in note 4(t) to 

the consolidated financial statements.

  (iii) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising 

from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with 

in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 4(c) to the consolidated financial 

statements.
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33. RESERVES (Continued)

 (b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

  (iv) Legal reserve

In accordance with the provisions of the Macau Commercial Code issued by the government 

of  Macau Special Administrative Region, the People’s Republic of  China (“Macau”), the 

Macau subsidiaries of  the Company are required to transfer from their annual net profit at 

a minimum rate of  25% to a legal reserve before the appropriation of  profits to dividend 

until the legal reserve reaches 50% of the respective subsidiaries’ registered capital. The legal 

reserve is not distributable to shareholders.

  (v) Statutory surplus reserve fund

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for foreign investment enterprises in the 

People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required 

to maintain a statutory surplus reserve fund. Appropriation to such reserve is made out of net 

profit after taxation as reflected in the statutory financial statements of  the PRC subsidiaries 

in accordance with relevant laws and regulations applicable to PRC enterprises. The statutory 

surplus reserve fund can be used to make up prior year losses, if  any, and can be applied in 

conversion into capital by means of  capitalisation issue.

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

 Equity-settled share option scheme

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 22 July 2010, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the 

“Option Scheme”), which will expire on 21 July 2020, for the purpose of providing incentives or reward 

to eligible persons for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain 

high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the Group or any entity in 

which the Group holds any equity interest. Under the Option Scheme, the directors of  the Company 

may grant options to any employees (including any executive directors), non-executive directors, suppliers 

of  goods or services and customers of  the Group; and consultant, adviser, manager, officer or entity 

that provides research, development or other technological support to the Group.
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

 Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

Options granted must be accepted by an eligible person within 21 business days from the date of grant, 

provided that such date shall not be more than 10 years after the date of  adoption of  the Option 

Scheme. A consideration of  HK$1 is payable on acceptance. An option may be exercised in whole or 

in part by the grantee (or his legal personal representatives) at any time before the expiry of  the period 

to be determined and notified by the Board of Directors to the grantee which in any event shall not be 

longer than 10 years commencing on the date of  the offer letter and expiring on the last day of  such 

ten-year period subject to the provisions for early termination as contained in the Option Scheme. The 

exercise price is determined by the directors of  the Company, and will be at least the highest of  (i) the 

closing price of  the Company’s shares on the date of  grant; (ii) the average closing price of  the shares 

for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of  grant; and (iii) the nominal value of  the 

Company’s shares on the date of  grant. The maximum number of  shares in respect of  which options 

may be granted under the Option Scheme may not exceed in nominal amount of  10% of  issued share 

capital of  the Company at any point of  time without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. 

Besides, the total maximum number of  shares which may be issued upon exercise of  all outstanding 

share options must not exceed 30% of the issued share capital from time to time. The number of shares 

issued and to be issued in respect of  which options granted and may be granted to any individual in 

any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point of time.

Details of  the specific categories of  options are as follows:

Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period
Exercise 

price
HK$

     

2014
— Tranche 1 30 May 2014 30 May 2014 to 

31 December 2014
1 January 2015 to 

31 December 2018
0.900

— Tranche 2 30 May 2014 30 May 2014 to 
31 December 2015

1 January 2016 to 
31 December 2018

0.900

— Tranche 3 30 May 2014 30 May 2014 to 
31 December 2016

1 January 2017 to 
31 December 2018

0.900

— Tranche 4 30 May 2014 30 May 2014 to 
31 December 2017

1 January 2018 to 
31 December 2018

0.900

2015 16 June 2015 Nil 16 June 2015 to  
15 June 2017

1.788

2016 7 June 2016 Nil 7 June 2016 to 
6 December 2017

1.300
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

 Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

Details of  the movement of  share options during the year are as follows:

2017 2016  

Number of  

share options

Weighted 

average  

exercise price

Number of  

share options

Weighted 

average  

exercise price

HK$ HK$
     

Outstanding at the beginning 

of  the year 13,468,000 1.41 9,696,000 1.36

Granted during the year — — 6,000,000 1.30

Lapsed during the year (5,572,000) 1.70 (280,000) 0.90

Exercised during the year (872,000) 0.90 (1,948,000) 0.90     

Outstanding at the end of   

the year 7,024,000 1.24 13,468,000 1.41
     

Exercisable at the end of  the 

year 6,720,000 1.26 11,788,000 1.48
     

The weighted average share price at the date of  exercise for share options exercised during the year was 

HK$0.9. The options outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average remaining contractual 

life of  0.3 year (2016: 1.2 years) and the exercise prices range from HK$0.9 to HK$1.3 (2016: HK$0.9 

to HK$1.788). In 2016, options were granted on 7 June 2016 and the estimated fair value of the options 

granted on this date was HK$2,144,000.

This fair value was calculated using the Monte Carlo method. The inputs into the model are as follows:

2016
  

Spot price HK$1.140

Exercise price HK$1.300

Risk-free rate 0.6061%

Expected option life 1.4986 years

Expected dividend yield 1.7778%

Expected volatility 81.347%
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

 Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of  the Company’s share price 

at the grant date. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on the Group’s best 

estimate, for the effects of  non transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioral considerations.

Share options granted to consultants were incentives for helping the Group expand its business network, 

acquire and explore new business projects and opportunities. The fair value of  such benefit could not 

be estimated reliably and as a result, the fair value is measured by reference to the fair value of  share 

options granted.

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 September 2017, the Group and the Company did not have any significant contingent liabilities 

(2016: Nil).

36. LEASE COMMITMENTS

 The Group as lessee

At 30 September 2017, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 

are payable as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Within one year 3,037 3,219

In the second to fifth year inclusive 1,697 3,020

After five years — 53   

4,734 6,292
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36. LEASE COMMITMENTS (Continued)

 The Group as lessee (Continued)

Commitment for operating lease rentals for rented premises in the above included commitment with 

Mr. Ieong Un, a director of  the Company as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Within one year 1,508 1,440

In the second to fifth year inclusive 641 1,254   

2,149 2,694
   

Operating lease payments represent rental payable by the Group for certain of  its offices and factories. 

Leases are negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 6 years (2016: 1 to 6 years) and rentals are fixed 

over the lease terms and do not include contingent rentals.

 The Group as lessor

At 30 September 2017 the total further minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 

are receivable as follows:

Rented premises and leasehold land

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Within one year 1,193 1,760

In the second to fifth year inclusive 280 924   

1,473 2,684
   

37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Capital commitments contracted for at the end of  the reporting 

period but not yet incurred in respect of  the purchase of  

property, plant and equipment 9,014 24,904
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those related party transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the financial 

statements, the Group had the following significant transactions with its related parties during the year:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Property rental expenses paid to a director 1,422 1,451

Property rental income received from a related company 34 35
   

A director, Mr. Ieong Un, has significant influence over the related company.

The details of  remuneration of  key management personnel of  the Group include the directors whose 

emoluments during the year are set out in note 14(a).

39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

After the year, the Company repurchased and cancelled 10,364,000 ordinary shares.
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Year ended 30 September 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

RESULTS

Revenue 452,395 499,148 543,632 496,219 539,557      

Profit before taxation 39,975 52,806 53,881 35,561 40,860

Share of  (loss)/profit of  associates — (64) 3,843 5,183 (17,075)

Impairment loss of  investment in an 

associate — — — — (38,393)

Taxation (5,867) (13,209) (8,541) (3,585) (5,671)      

(Loss)/profit for the year 34,108 39,533 49,183 37,159 (20,279)
      

As at 30 September 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total assets 381,307 446,994 536,699 552,958 529,833

Total liabilities (110,053) (123,724) (108,509) (124,514) (134,636)      

Net assets 271,254 323,270 428,190 428,444 395,197
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